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railway enginemen’s tax free saver plans

Authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority. 
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Incorporated under the Friendly Societies Act 1992

tax free savings plans
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@RailwayEnginemens
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Time for forward 
thinking not blind 
entrenchment

HE sins of privatisation, in other sectors, are coming home to roost. Who
would have thought that, after all the calls for electrification, and
decarbonisation, we would see electric freight engines mothballed as

the companies cannot afford the cost of electricity? What does this do to real time
delivery as, in some cases, the necessary speeds or paths cannot be achieved?
What is the domino effect to other trains? And what will it do to service recovery?

This at a time when ships cannot land at terminals to discharge their boxes due
to thousands of empty boxes taking up space. This is with already empty shelves
and threats to deal with supply and demand over Christmas. Rail freight was in a
period of growth and this should not be damaged. We had the ridiculous
situation recently of trains full of fuel standing in yards and sidings as there were
no lorry drivers to serve the refineries to create space whilst the petrol and diesel
pumps ran dry! We are 100,000 lorry drivers short. The government offers three
month visas to workers to help us out and are then apparently surprised when
only 27 – or 127 – apply, depending on whether you listen to the Prime Minister
or the Business Minister. It would be funny if it was not so seriously farcical. 

Elsewhere we are seeing the government calling for a return to the workplace
but doing nothing to facilitate or encourage it. Now is the time to make rail – and
all public transport – attractive. This will not only help business, and employment
in the UK, but also the leisure and retail sectors. Now is the time for forward
thinking – not blind entrenchment.

We continue to see direct awards for concessions – as opposed to direct
awards for franchises – so what has changed under Great British Railways? Not a
lot! Companies are still declaring profits and dividends for shareholders out of the
£14 billion put in to sustain our industry – an industry that should be protected
and invested in centrally. We are campaigning against unnecessary cuts – or
contraction – and we will continue to do so.

There is no reason for us to fear the future or the political decisions that will be
made. Because we have been here before – and will doubtless be here again – and
we will determine how much we engage in change. But we are clear that it will not
be at our cost because unity and solidarity are not buzzwords but what you give
each other, and the union, and if we have to stand we will – as we have always
done – do it together.

There are rumblings out there that the bad managers are back in town and
seek to justify their existence by either breaking our resourcing agreements or
attacking our futures through using aggressive discipline rather than the agreed
CDP or other recognised processes. Goodwill is not weakness and those who
exploit the partnership process developed under covid will feel the full wrath of
this trade union. Without exception.

We continue, against a backdrop of uncertainty, to deliver for all our
communities. As society opens up, with people uncertain for their futures,
compounded by two poor decisions in the run up to Christmas. The first was to
end the £20 uplift in universal credit which, for many, is an in-work benefit and
will put children into hunger with families forced to choose between heating and
eating, compounded by ignorant comments by ministers that ‘All they have to do
is work a few more hours’. The second is the decision to end the furlough scheme. I
do not envisage a growth in the economy as more businesses go under and more
people become unemployed. Neither scenario will see more people spending
money travelling on the railway or generating for the local or national economy. 

This is the sixth richest nation in the world and the rumours I hear of a battle
between the Treasury and other government departments over a return to
austerity – a policy that economists agree failed in the ten years before covid –
shows a lack of conviction as well as compassion. The only way forward is to
invest in the future, to guarantee the real levelling up that society needs, not a
punching down. Please be safe…

Yours fraternally,
Mick Whelan, general secretary, ASLEF
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If the government really wanted to
improve wages, they wouldn’t have

spent decades doing everything they could
to stop trade unions organising effectively.
@FinnBrennan

Do not understand why no UK
political party has campaigned hard

against the vast money laundering and tax
avoidance operations run out of the City of
London, not to mention the anonymous
property deals that have distorted the UK
property market.
@anneapplebaum

You are wrong. For the 2017 and 2019
general elections the Labour Party

published a tax transparency and
enforcement programme which included
an immediate public inquiry into
avoidance and other measures. No other
political party did so.
@premnsikka

A constituent says Marcus Rashford
has done more for working people

than Keir Starmer. I can’t say I disagree.
@jon_trickett

I haven’t retired and not a lot of
people know that.

@themichaelcaine
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TWEETS OF THE MONTH

QUOTE…
Disagreements with
politicians should be
solved at the ballot box,
not via threats,
intimidation, or murder’
– Sir Lindsay Hoyle
Speaker of the House
of Commons

…UNQUOTE

Electricity shock!
SLEF has called on the
government to intervene
after the shocking rise in

electricity prices forced
Freightliner, one of Britain’s
biggest rail freight companies, to
stop running clean green electric
locomotives and replace them
with diesel-powered traction.

GS Mick Whelan said: ‘It’s an
omnishambles! And utterly
ridiculous that, just a few weeks
before COP26, when we will be
looking to our politicians to plan
for a green future, and a
sustainable economy, to save our
planet, environmentally-friendly
electric locos are being replaced
by diesel-powered units to haul
goods around the country.

‘Moving freight across the UK
by rail rather than road is,
inherently, a carbon-efficient
mode of transport and an

environmentally-friendly way of
doing business. Electric-hauled
services reduce emissions by 99%;
even diesel traction reduces
emissions by 76%. But this
backwards step – forced on the
freight industry by government
inaction – drives a freight train
through our green credentials and
makes our targets that much
harder to achieve.

‘The government needs to act
now to help businesses – hit hard
by soaring prices – and
consumers struggling to pay their
bills. We need the Prime Minister
to do the right thing for people,
for business, and for our rail
network. Because it is also the
right thing for our planet.’

Freightliner said: ‘As a result of
soaring prices in the UK’s
wholesale electricity market, the
price Network Rail charges us to

operate electric train services
increased by more than 210%
between September and October.
This unprecedented rise has
resulted in a sharp increase in the
cost of operating electric freight
services. Freightliner has taken the
difficult decision to replace
electric freight services with
diesel-hauled services in order to
maintain a cost-effective option
for transporting vital goods and
supplies across the UK.’

A

Omnishambles – soaring price of electricity forces Freightliner back to diesel

INQUIRY INTO GB RAIL
Huw Merriman, Conservative MP for Bexhill &
Battle, and chair of the Transport Select
Committee, is to lead an inquiry into GB Rail in
the light of the Williams-Shapps Plan for Rail.

Night Tube returns to London

Gimme the night fever: we
know how to do it

The Night Tube – suspended
since March 2020 because of
the coronavirus pandemic – is
to return on the Central and
Victoria lines on Saturday 27
November ‘to support
economic recovery and night
safety in the capital’ TfL has
announced. ‘With
redundancies and service
cuts going on across the rail
network, it is good to see
services being increased on

London Underground,’ said
DO8 Finn Brennan. ‘ASLEF
reps are in detailed

discussions with LU for the
return of the Night Tube on
the Central and Victoria lines.
London needs a high quality
public transport system. A
long-term funding
arrangement for TfL from
central government is
essential to make this
sustainable.’

l Please turn to page 9 to
see why you should vote
‘Yes’ in our ballot of
Underground drivers.

ASLEF condemns violence 
after David Amess murder
ASLEF condemned the use of violence after Sir
David Amess, Conservative MP for Southend West,
was stabbed to death in a terror attack at his
constituency surgery on Friday 15 October. A
statement issued by Mick Whelan, general
secretary, and Dave Calfe, president, said: ‘Our
thoughts are with the family of Sir David. Five years
ago Jo Cox was killed in a similarly brutal attack. In
our country, politicians have always made a point
of being available to help their constituents and it
is shocking that Sir David, like Jo, has lost his life in
this way. Violence is the problem, not the solution.
Politicians – like all people in this country – have
the right to go about their business, and live their
lives, without living in fear of being attacked.’

Woman of the year

Heather Waugh, a driver with
Freightliner Intermodal, and
member of Motherwell branch,
pictured (back row, second left) at
the Women of the Year lunch, at the
Royal Lancaster Hotel in London on
Monday 11 October, which
recognized 400 women from across
the UK ‘who have achieved
remarkable things over the course
of a year complicated by the
pandemic’. We will have a full
report in our next issue.

WINNER IS FIRST PAST THE POST
A much-anticipated motion at the Labour Party
conference proposing that the party embrace
proportional representation – which became ASLEF
policy at AAD this year – was defeated.
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GREY GOWRIE – born in Dublin and
christened Alexander Patrick Greysteil
Hore-Ruthven, he succeeded to the title of
Earl Gowrie at the age of 15 – was, as a
published poet, and lecturer in English

Literature at Harvard and University College, London,
something of an oddity in Margaret Thatcher’s cabinet. He
was a successful Arts Minister, but struggled at the height of
the Troubles as deputy to the Secretary of State for Northern
Ireland where hardline Protestants would refer to him as ‘the
little green Lord’, a reference not only to his taste in overcoats
as Gowrie expressed admiration for the courage of the IRA
hunger strikers, an opinion unusual – and unpopular – with
other members of Thatcher’s inner circle, but, as his private
secretary George Fergusson recalls, he had a wry sense of
humour, too. ‘During consultation over the long overdue
decriminalisation of homosexual acts in 1982, Ian Paisley led
various delegations to see him. At the end of one such
meeting, Grey said wearily, “You don’t understand, Dr Paisley.
We’re not proposing to make it mandatory”…’

ANDY BURNHAM turned up in Brighton to
offer party members a viable alternative if or
when Sir Keir, badly advised, and picking
unnecessary fights, is deemed to be dead in the
water. As John Crace put it in his conference

sketch in The Guardian: ‘Andy Burnham is clearly on
manoeuvres. His text was consistent. Levelling up began with
public transport and Michael Gove and Dominic Cummings
weren’t all bad. His sub-text was also consistent. “I know how
to deal with the Tories and I’m the next leader of the Labour
Party.” Not exactly on message. Though he could be right.’ 

ANDY McDONALD is a politician of high
personal and professional principles. He
was incandescant with rage when Keir
Starmer ordered him to attend a composite
meeting and oppose a trade union motion
calling for a national minimum wage of £15
an hour and against statutory sick pay at
the living wage – ‘something I could not do’.
Some observers say that Starmer simply

lacks empathy, although cynics suggest he deliberately put
Andy in a difficult position in order to get rid of the last
Corbynista in the shadow cabinet. Starmer’s dependency on
an ‘Eddie the Echo’ inner circle – out of touch with both the
party and the voters – is, Tories believe, his Achilles heel.

DICKY FISHER was caught on camera – by
Julian Vaughan – on a night out in
Brighton looking like a hip Beat poet –
think Jack Kerouac, Allen Ginsberg,
William S Burroughs, or Lawrence

Ferlinghetti – prompting Julian to post the picture with the
caption: ‘If you want to get ahead, get a hat!’

ED MAYNE got his own back by posting
this photo – without comment – of Julian
looking very pleased with himself
behind a box containing 22 bottles of
Heineken just begging to be drunk.

Off the Rails

QUOTE…
‘The faultline in
politics at the moment
is not between left and
right, but between
optimists and
pessimists’ – Penny
Mordaunt Minister
of State for Trade

…UNQUOTE

CONFERENCES & RALLIES
International Women’s Day is Tuesday
8 March 2022. ASLEF’s annual
assembly of delegates will be held at
the Highcliff Marriott Hotel in
Bournemouth from Monday 16 to
Friday 20 May. The 154th Trades Union
Congress is at the Brighton Centre from
Sunday 11 to Wednesday 14 September.
The Labour Party conference will be
held in Liverpool from Saturday 24 to
Wednesday 28 September.

500 CLUB: Dennis Connelly, with number 246, won the October draw,
scooping the Retired Members’ Section jackpot of £524.

One in the Eye
for Billy Whizz

IMON Weller
– whose
sense of

humour, and sense of
mischief, extends to
having a subscription
to the fortnightly
satirical magazine
Private Eye – was, er,
driven to write to the
paper after it printed
a wicked cartoon at
the end of
September.

The drawing by
Wilbur Dawbarn – to
which we drew
attention in the
Journal last month –
showed a man, sitting
on the sofa,
muttering, ‘I don’t
want to go back to
sitting on a train for
hours each day.’ We’re
meant to think he’s a
commuter worried
about returning to
work but the woman
sitting next to him
retorts, ‘But you’re a
train driver!’

The gag prompted
the AGS to write a
letter to the Eye,
which it published, in
full, in its issue dated

1-14 October: ‘Your
cartoon of a train
driver not wanting to
go back to sitting on
a train post-
pandemic caused a
fair amount of
amusement in the
office. However, it’s
probably worth
saying that ASLEF
(the UK train drivers’
union) members

have been driving
trains throughout the
pandemic. It’s fair to
say there haven’t
been too many
passengers, but there
have definitely been
train drivers, on 
those trains. 

‘I would cancel my
subscriptions, but I
really can’t be
bothered.’

Keeping track: Simon’s letter and the cartoon
by Wilbur Dawbarn who drew the Billy Whizz
strip in The Beano for a couple of years

S

SCUM? PICCANINNIES WITH WATERMELON SMILES, TANK-
TOPPED BUM BOYS, AND BANK ROBBERS
David Lammy, the Shadow Justice Secretary, has defended Angela
Rayner, Labour’s deputy leader, for describing – with its echo of Nye
Bevan’s famous description, in 1948, of the Tories as ‘lower than
vermin’ – the Tory government as ‘scum’. ‘I’m not keen to take lectures
from senior Tories who have a leader who described people like me
as piccaninnies with watermelon smiles, who describes gay men as
tank-topped bum boys, and Muslim women as bank robbers.’ Angela
told activists: ‘We cannot get any worse than a bunch of homophobic,
racist, misogynistic, absolutely vile… banana republic, vile, nasty,
Etonian…piece of scum.’
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I am a driver with GTR and produce a railways
calendar. UK railways 2022 is an A3 wall
calendar with 12 great pictures of current UK
rolling stock from stations around the country.
Price £15 but ASLEF members get a 20%
discount. Just enter ‘ASLEF’ at the checkout. To
purchase go to www.lhrairside.com/shop 
Vin Man

Chance to get 20% off 2022
railways calendar

Lew and Jack were
tempted to join us

HE third
annual
Stratford

reunion at Mangapps
Railway Museum at
Burnham-on-Crouch
in Essex was held on
Saturday 25
September and was
the largest
attendance we have
had, with 34 friends
and colleagues, some
coming from
Scotland and Bristol
to join us! 

Danny Forbes and
Chris Maguire came
down from
Aberdeen, Bob Kent
(now at West Coast
Railways) from Bristol,
and Tony Gooding
was brought along,
by his son Marc, from
Great Yarmouth. 

It was a fantastic
day and even
tempted our former
GS Lew Adams OBE
to join us, along with
one of the most
famous Stratford

shed foremen, Jack
Stannard, now 89.
Denis Saville and
Charlie Middleton,
both in their 90s,
were helped along by
their families.

Traction along the
¾ mile long line was
provided by a Class
31 diesel loco, 31105
(formerly D5523),
driven by former
King’s Cross and
Southend Victoria
driver Brian Eley. The
weather was very
kind to us and the
atmosphere inside
the refreshment
carriage was likened
to the Stratford mess
room in the 1970s
with several hundred
cups of tea
consumed during the
day! The museum –
owned by my friend
John Jolly, his wife
June, and son James
– houses one of the
largest privately-
owned collections of

railway memorabilia
in the UK. Many BR
diesels are in use,
including two Class
31s and several Class
03 shunting locos.
Well worth a visit;
check out the
website at www.
mangapps.co.uk
Dave Brennand
Retired Members’
Section Stratford train crew and Brian in the cab at Mangapps Railway Museum

Mi Casa

Edge Hill branch
would like to thank
GS Mick Whelan, EC
president Dave Calfe,
EC3 John Metcalfe
and DO3 Andy
Hourigan for
attending our
meeting on Friday 17
September at The
Casa, Hope Street,
Liverpool. All our
guests gave brilliant,
and very informative,
speeches about what
is happening in the
industry at the
moment. Our
members asked
questions and got
very interesting

answers. A good
evening was had by
all! Special thanks to
the GS for handing
out long service

awards to branch
members.
Mike Cooper Edge
Hill 070 branch
secretary

GS Mick does the business up on Merseyside

Busy branch

Curry – as well as rostering – was on the menu

A busy branch
meeting was held at
The Barley Mow pub
in Leicester on
Sunday 26
September. A dozen
members attended
and numerous items
were discussed,
including rostering
issues within
CrossCountry,
company council
matters, and health
& safety issues.

Afterwards, branch
members went to an
Indian restaurant for
Sunday lunch, very
nice, too! Many
thanks to our branch

secretary Nick
Chawner for
arranging the event.
John Liddle
Leicester 117
branch reporter

RAINHAM REUNION
The first reunion at Rainham was a great
success! As it was the first for 18 months,
sadly there were a few missing faces. Much
reminiscing, as usual, a lovely day. 
Dave Weddle Tonbridge RMS reporter

GRAHAM WALKER PRINCIPLED PERSON
Comrades, it’s sad news of the passing of Graham Walker, a true friend
(a rare find in today’s society). I first met him in the mid-1980s and
went on to have the pleasure of working with him on driver’s
company council, and then as our EC member. He was, and always
remained, a principled person and defended anyone within our grade
with upmost care and attention, which didn’t always make him
popular and would cost him dearly. He was warmly welcomed into
our branch at Faversham where his knowledge, wisdom, and wit were
well received. So, on behalf of all members especially Grudd, Andy,
Kevin, Joe, George, Tel Boy, and Speedy, a fond farewell comrade. 
Bill Williams Faversham 077 branch and RMS

T
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Saints alive, Graham!
FTER the last
couple of
years of

covid, it was great to
be able to meet up
with colleagues on a
gloriously sunny
afternoon on Sunday
12 September when
Southampton/North
am branch held a
long service award
social event at the
South Western Arms
pub (St Denys).

Andy White, LDC
secretary, thanked
everyone for
attending, for
battling through the
pandemic, and for
the unwavering
support that wives
and partners have
given us. 

He then
introduced our
invited speakers,
thanking them for
taking the time out

to attend and present
our members with
their badges.

Special thanks to
EC1 Marz Colombini,
DO1 Graham Morris,
and company council
Andy Davey and Paul
Fenn for giving their
time to travel down,
especially with the
usual disruptive
weekend
engineering work.
Graham brought us
up to date on a wide
range of issues, led a
poignant minute’s
silence for Russell
Maton, a very
popular and well-
known driver at
Farnham, thanked
our branch for the
invite, and company
council for the work
they have been
putting in, especially
after the last couple
of years with covid,

and, finally, not
forgetting a little dig
in the football
department after the
recent draw between
Saints and West Ham!
Marz gave his usual
uplifting off the cuff
speech, recognising
members for our
support during this
difficult time, and
reiterating that
support from
members is key to
keeping our trade
union strong.

In attendance and
receiving their long

service awards were
Kevin Cuff (15 years);
Scott McNamara (25);
Matthew Dungey
and Mick White (30);
branch secretary Alan
Loughlin (35); and
retired members
Jolyon Dickinson and

Malcolm Snelgar.
Finally, we’d like to

thank h&s rep Dave
Eagle for probably
the most important
job of the day,
cooking the excellent
food on the BBQ! To
sum up, it was a

coming together of
colleagues and
friends, a catch up,
and, overall, a very
enjoyable day.
Ed d’Bell
Southampton/
Northam 160
branch

Graham and
Marz in
(almost)
matching
Fred Perry
polo shirts
enjoy (at
last!) a face
to face
branch
meeting

A

The mess room is quieter now
On Monday 20 September,
Stratford branch was finally able
to welcome back members to the
more traditional style of meeting
at the Railway Tavern Hotel. It was
a good turnout, to hear
informative reports from DO5
Nigel Gibson, Freightliner
Intermodal business council Mark
Mulley, and Freightliner
Intermodal/Heavy Haul business
council Tony Venson. 

As well as catching up and
having a chinwag over a pint we
also had the privilege of making
presentations to mark loyal
service and retirement certificates.
In addition, on Saturday 25
September we were also finally
able to bid farewell to a popular
member of the gang, who retired

in May 2020, and following the
postponement of the original
drink up for him, we made sure
Neil Bunt had a good send-off,
and marked it with presentations
from his colleagues and from
ASLEF with his retirement
certificate. Also present, to
celebrate his retirement in July
this year, was Nigel Brand, who,
now he has gone, has left the
mess room a lot quieter! Farewell
and good luck. 

Other members receiving
badges or certificates, who could
not make it on the day, will have
theirs given out at their depot or
delivered in the post. Badges: 
J Chaudhry, T Penfold-Angell, 
(5 years); J Collins, L Guttridge, 
J Manson, N Sadler (10); S Hoad, 

F McLeod, D McDougall (15); 
R Ellis (20); M Foulds, P Forman
(25); K Nunn (35); D Grigg (45).
Retirement certificates: 
C Blackwell, N Brand, N Bunt, 
T Casey, A Cleave, R Haley, 
M Masters, R Haley, J Walsh.
John Thorpe Stratford 205
branch secretary

R Haley, G Underwood (branch chair),
N Gibson, J Collins, M Mulley, K Nunn,
T Casey, C Blackwell, J Thorpe (branch
secretary); J Thorpe (LDC), N Bunt, R
Allwood (LDC), N Brand

DAVID GIBSON ON ROAD TO HULL
David Gibson is the new
managing director of
Hull Trains. After leaving
the RAF in 2003 he

worked for Hull city council, as assistant
chief executive; Capita’s consulting and
transformation division, as director of
programme and project management
practice; MD at DB Regio Tyne & Wear;
and service delivery director at
Caledonian MacBrayne Ferries.

RMS FORUM AT LOW HALL
We want to thank all those who
applied to attend the Retired
Members’ Section autumn
forum at Low Hall, Scalby, North
Yorkshire from 5 to 7
November. But we regret that,
in the light of the increase in
covid infection rates, the RMS
committee has taken the
difficult decision not to go
ahead with the forum this year.

In Flanders fields the poppies blow
between the crosses, row on row
Our 2021 poppy badge, honouring those who
lost their lives on active service, is available in
two versions: a traditional red poppy and a
white pacifist poppy. £6 each (inc p&p) with all
proceeds from the red badges going to the
Royal British Legion and from the white badges
to Veterans for Peace. Order through our online
shop, or email info@aslef.org.uk specifying
which poppy (and how many) you want. 
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SOS – 6 months to 
Save our ScotRail

N WEDNESDAY 22 September the
four rail unions in Scotland launched
a joint campaign on the future of

Scotland’s railways under the banner of ‘Six
months to Save Scotrail’. Around 200 union
members, politicians, and supporters gathered
outside Nicola Sturgeon’s official residence,
Bute House in Edinburgh. There were
speeches from Mick Hogg, RMT; Gary Kelly,
TSSA; Pat McIllvouge, Unite; and myself from
the trade unions. 

There was a fantastic turnout from Labour
MSPs with Anas Sarwar, leader of the Scottish
Labour Party, and Neil Bibby both speaking.
We were also fortunate enough to have Kenny
MacAskill MP from the Alba party. 

The feeling of outrage and anger at the
Scottish government’s proposals to cut a
100,000 train services per annum was
reflected in all the speeches. It was great to see

so many ASLEF branches represented from
across Scotland. We had activists from Airdrie,
Ayr, Bathgate, Edinburgh No 2, Glasgow, 
Perth, Polmadie, and Yoker. A special mention
to Bathgate branch who brought along their
new banner for its first outing. And I look
forward to seeing even more members at
future demonstrations.
DO2 Kevin Lindsay

Jim Baxter and Kevin Lindsay with Bathgate’s
new banner; Grant Murchie and members
from Perth; Richard Leonard and Anas Sarwar
join ASLEC activists outside Bute House

O

We need to keep the country moving
ASLEF has called on First Minister
Nicola Sturgeon to step in and
save services on ScotRail for the
people of Scotland. ASLEF
members – together with workers
from three other trade unions
which represent other grades on
Scotland’s rail network, the RMT,
the TSSA, and Unite – protested
outside Bute House to protect the
future of services in Scotland.

Kevin Lindsay, ASLEF’s
organiser in Scotland, explained:
‘ScotRail, together with the
Scottish government, is proposing
to cut 300 services each day –
that’s more than 100,000 trains
each year – which will hit
passengers, and businesses, in this
country very hard. It’s the wrong
decision – wrong for passengers,
wrong for businesses, and wrong

for hard-working ScotRail staff
who worked throughout the
pandemic to keep key workers
and vital goods moving around
our country – at the wrong time.

‘Abellio seems to want
Scotland’s railway network to
contract and decline rather than
to expand and grow. But we want
the railway to thrive to help our
economy succeed. Because rail is
the green transport solution. It
would be ironic if, in the year this
country hosts COP26, Abellio
ScotRail drive people, and goods,
back onto our roads.’

And GS Mick Whelan said: ‘As
we try to rebuild the country after
the ravages of the covid-19
pandemic, we need to restore
services, not cut them, to grow,
not shrink, the Scottish economy.’

Kevin addresses the crowd from
the steps of Bute House; activists
brought branch banners and union
flags from across the country to
the capital

Top union leader targeted for
rail safety campaign
Sawit Kaewvarn, president of the State Railway Union, and one of
Thailand’s most prominent union leaders, is facing three years in
prison for his role in organising a rail safety campaign in his country.
The State Railway of Thailand has a poor safety record which Sawit,
who is also head of the State Enterprises Workers’ Relations
Confederation, the biggest body of trade unions in Thailand, is
determined to improve for passengers and staff. He was convicted of
‘omission of duties’ and sentenced to three years in jail for having the
temerity to organise the campaign. Twelve other national and local
union leaders received the same sentence. The case has been
described as the biggest attack on organised labour in the country
for decades and human rights activists say it will have a chilling effect
on trade unions and further weaken workers’ rights.

NEW MINISTER AT DFT: Trudy Harrison, Conservative MP for
Copeland, in Cumbria, joined the Department for Transport as a
Parliamentary Under-Secretary of
State, with responsibility for
decarbonisation and the future of
transport, in Boris Johnson’s
government reshuffle. Grant Shapps
stays as Secretary of State for
Transport and Chris Heaton-Harris is
still Transport Minister with
responsibility for rail.

TSSA IN TRANSATLANTIC MERGER TALKS: The TSSA is having
merger talks with a US trade union – the International Brotherhood of
Boilermakers, Iron Ship Builders, Blacksmiths, Forgers & Helpers – after
its conference approved the move in September. The aim, says GS
Manuel Cortes, is ‘to deliver the merger by 1 July 2022’.

QUOTE…
‘Voters punish
governments that lose
control’ – Andy Beckett
The Guardian

…UNQUOTE
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Firebox

SLEF members across
London Underground
are balloting for action

to protect our pensions, working
arrangements, and agreements.

More than 18 months after
the start of the covid pandemic,
the financial crisis it triggered at
Transport for London continues.
Although passenger numbers
have slowly grown, they are still
at only around 60% of pre-
pandemic levels, well below the
level expected when TfL set an
emergency budget in July. The
jump in inflation, and additional
costs of the national insurance
increase, and energy, have all
added to the problem.

So far all central government
has provided is a series of short-
term funding arrangements tied
to unacceptable strings –
including a review of TfL’s
pension arrangements and the
development of so-called
‘driverless’ trains.  

To deal with the funding
shortfall, London Underground
management is reviewing every
aspect of the business. As trains
council rep Maeve Hanley points
out below, train drivers’

conditions and agreements are
firmly in their sights. We have
repeatedly asked management
for assurances that they will
honour all existing agreements
and not make changes to our
terms and conditions of
employment, or pension
benefits, without agreement.

They have refused to give us
these assurances, making their
intentions clear. They plan to get
rid of any agreements that they
deem hinder ‘flexibility’ and use
a review of pension provision as
an excuse to cut our benefits.
Despite all the warm words
about ‘fairness’ and
‘modernisation’, the company’s
intention is to make staff work
harder, for longer, for less!

Top of the list of members’
concerns is protecting pension
arrangements. The TfL scheme is
an excellent one. It is well-
managed and fully-funded. But
the aim is to cut the contribution
that the employer pays and the
benefits that members receive.
Do not underestimate just how
much this could cost you.
Moving away from a defined
benefit, final salary, scheme to a

defined cost ‘money purchase’
scheme – as many employers
have already done – would mean
members will be many tens of
thousands of pounds worse off
in retirement.  

This is not hyperbole. It is the
stark reality of what proposed
changes to our pension scheme
could mean for your future living
standard and the dreams you
have for your future.

We all know how unfair this is.
A year ago, the government
called us heroes for keeping the
Tube trains running in the
capital. When we try to protect
our conditions and incomes, we
will be called villains and worse. 

But simply complaining that
something is unfair doesn’t
change it. And you would have
to be very naïve to think that the
government is simply going to
change its mind and provide TfL
with all the money it wants
without trying to impose strings
and attacks on staff conditions.

We will only be able to
protect our conditions, our
agreements, and our pensions if
we demonstrate that we are
prepared to fight to do so.
Powerful speeches or strongly-
worded resolutions might make

Vote ‘Yes’ to protect
your pay, your pension, 
and your conditions

District 8 Organiser FINN BRENNAN explains the
importance of the ASLEF ballot to protect London
Underground agreements and pensions

INCE the beginning of this pandemic
Tube train drivers across London
Underground continued to come to

work on the frontline while many office
workers worked from the safety of their own
homes. As passenger numbers are now
beginning to rise, we are starting to return to
some sort of normality, which is good news. 

The first order of business from London
Underground seems to be an attack on our
terms, conditions, and pensions. Over a period
of four weeks management presented trains

functional council with several detailed
slideshow presentations detailing how skint
they are while quoting the billions of savings
they need to make. These presentations listed
most of our train driver agreements. 

While it may seem harmless on paper, the
reality is that they do not intend to honour our
agreements as they say they are too costly and
too confusing! ASLEF has offered to explain
our agreements to them but their claims are
just a smoke screen and their intentions are
clear. They have repeatedly stated they no
longer think the attendance at work policy is
workable (basically they want to sack more
staff ) and our spare ratio is far too costly. They
have quoted figures of time spent ‘in cab’ and
said it is an average of five hours 26 minutes!
So when you next book on for your eight hour
shift maybe it will feel like only five and a half
hours! Somehow, we doubt it…

They want more flexibility, more
productivity, with fewer agreements that
apparently ‘confuse’ their managers. The reality
is that management has difficulty keeping up,
don’t like it, and claim it costs them too much
money. We have made our position very clear.
We are always willing to meet and discuss
proposals. However, we do not have anything
to give for free. They want our agreements, but
that’s nothing new. They have always wanted
our agreements. Nothing is free in this life and
that includes our hard-fought agreements. 

One thing for sure is that we are facing
changes, but we will stick together to ensure
that any changes benefit train drivers and not
management. TFC reps have been visiting all
branches and we will continue to attend
branch meetings to keep you up to date with
these issues. Zoom meetings have played an
important role over the last year but nothing
beats a physical face-to-face meeting. So
please make sure you get to your local branch,
and are kept in the loop. 

us feel better, but they won’t
change anything. Only our
ability to take effective industrial
action at a time of our choosing
will make management take a
step back

ASLEF has been completely
open about our approach. We
are prepared to negotiate and to
discuss changes. But we will not
be bullied, and we will not have
detrimental change forced on
you, our members, without
agreement. That is why we asked
management to provide
assurances that they would
honour all existing agreements
and commit to making changes
only by agreement. As they have
refused to so, our ballot for
industrial action is the only
reasonable response.

A big ‘Yes’ vote will show
management they will have a
fight on their hands when they
come for your conditions and
pensions. But they will count
every negative or non-returned
ballot as a green light to do
exactly what they want.

Your future is in your hands.
To protect it, support your union,
vote ‘Yes’, and return your ballot
paper by Monday 8 November.

We will not give anything for free
MAEVE HANLEY, trains
functional council, says that
while managers want to tear
up our agreements, that’s
nothing new. They have

always wanted our agreements

A

S

Finn: ‘The
company’s
intention
is to make
you work
harder, for
longer, for
less!’
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Platform

HEATHER WAUGH, a driver
with Freightliner Intermodal,
member of our Motherwell
branch, and depot LLC, wants
you to tune into her Rail

Wellbeing Live session about mental
health best practice in our industry 

HEN I was asked to join a DfT-led
steering group on supporting and
promoting positive mental health in

the rail industry, I was extremely flattered, but,
naturally, I had my reservations. After 15 years
working in our industry – I joined the railway
as a driver with ScotRail in August 2006,
moving to Freightliner IM in January 2019 – I
was yet to witness an industry-wide initiative
that would truly understand the reality and
support the needs of working on the frontline. 

However, when I joined the first meeting, it
was clear that every person in the group had a
real passion to improve our industry and
provide the best possible experience for
someone in need of support. With a wide
range of people across the TOCs, FOCs,
Network Rail, DfT, RSSB, RDG, Railway Mission,
and Samaritans, there has, refreshingly, been
genuine honesty about the current situation,
where we might have gone wrong in the past,
and what needs to be done next. This time,
frontline staff will be included in planning and
consultation and it’s crucial our voices are
heard, which is where we need your help. 

We will launch our mental health study at
Rail Wellbeing Live on Wednesday 17
November. Ruth Busy, GWR’s HR director, Olivia

Cayley, the Samaritans’ head of rail, and I will
be presenting a live session to give more detail
and open a discussion amongst staff. I’d really
encourage you to join us on our webinar chat
and please share your feedback, good and
bad, to help us shape how the study
progresses – because we hope by including
voices from the frontline of the rail industry,
we’ll be able to make a real, valuable, and
enduring difference.  

After a challenging 18 months – and an
unpredictable time ahead – for the rail
industry, it’s so important that we address the
issues, and look after our own, as well as our
friends’ and colleagues’, mental health. 

If you haven’t attended any of the
Samaritans’ free courses, designed specifically
for rail, I’d encourage you to email
railcompanies@samaritans.org. Even long after
the fatality I experienced, the trauma support
training course they offer for drivers and driver

managers gave me some healing. Ever since, I
have thought some of the reactions and
thoughts I had, regarding my fatality, were
strange, and felt it stupid to mention them. It
was a weight off my mind to realise it was
normal, and to have the science behind how
we think and respond to such upsetting
incidents explained. I found it a real eye
opener to learn how our different personality
traits affect how we respond and feel. That
there is no right or wrong way. I took real
strength from the course, both for myself, and
in how I approach colleagues who experience
this. I wish I’d done it sooner.

Heather: ‘There’s a chance to share your feedback from the frontline of the rail industry this month’

Rail Wellbeing Live is a two-day
online event of webinars designed
to improve your mental and physical
health. For more information visit
www.railwellbeinglive.co.uk 

W

Why violence against women
is not a minor railway issue

’VE had people come up and ask why, as a trade union, we get
involved with things that are not seen as railway issues. But
campaigning for better laws to protect women and girls is an

important issue and one all trade unions are behind. Public transport
should be safe for everyone, including staff, so we can come to work
without fear of assault or harassment. The motion I spoke on at the Labour
Party conference (see page 12) highlighted how Belgium, France, Portugal,
Croatia, the Czech Republic, Argentina, Chile, Peru, Costa Rica, and New
Zealand all have laws specifically relating to sexual harassment in public
spaces and demanded that the UK follows suit. These are not necessarily
violent crimes but they can be distressing and, potentially, lead to more
serious assaults or staff being fearful of harassment at work.

This is important not only for us as drivers, but also for platform staff,
guards, and ticket office staff who are dealing with the public, often in
isolated locations, and as lone workers. What is the point of being
surrounded by CCTV if there aren’t specific laws in place to prosecute
perpetrators of sexual harassment in what is our workplace? Sexual
harassment might seem like a minor issue, to some, but to stop big things
happening we have to stamp out what are sometimes seen as little things. 

We must continue to highlight the inequality and gaps in our laws by
talking about these issues, and using our power as a trade union, to raise
them whenever the opportunity arises.
Kerry Cassidy Plymouth branch and WRC D7 rep

Doncaster vigil this month
TATISTICS of violence against women and girls, pre-
pandemic, were staggeringly high: 95% of child
marriage victims are girls; 130 million girls have been

killed simply because of their gender; and at least 200 million
women and girls alive today are victims of FGM. Since the
outbreak of covid-19, emerging data and reports from those on
the frontline, reveal that all types of violence, particularly
domestic violence, against women and girls, has intensified. In
Doncaster we also saw an increase in DV cases, and had a
number of femicides during lockdown.

Violence against women and girls hit the headlines with the
murder of Sarah Everard but a rightful outcry did not transfer
into meaningful action by policy makers. As women, we know
we have to take control of the situation and continue keeping
the subject in the media. We also know that for any meaningful
change to be made, and maintained, we need the support of
our male comrades, friends, and colleagues; the people with
whom we share our lives. 

That’s why I am organising a vigil to mark the International
Day for Elimination of Violence Against Women at Elmfield Park
in Doncaster on Thursday 25 November. This event has been
supported by trade unions, Doncaster trades council, Phoenix
WoMens Aid and Foodaware Doncaster to reflect on, and listen
to, the experiences of women and girls in South Yorkshire.
San Senik Sheffield No 1 branch secretary and BAME
committee chair

It’s crucial our voices are heard

S
I
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Labour Party conference

Brighton rocks for ASLEF at 
the Labour Party conference

SLEF sent four delegates
– Mick Whelan, general
secretary; Dave Calfe, EC

president; Kerry Cassidy,
Plymouth branch; and Mark
Prenter, Waterloo Nine Elms – to
the Labour Party conference held
at the Brighton Centre on the
seafront in Sussex from Saturday
25 to Wednesday 29 September. It
was the first party conference to
be held in Brighton, in person,
and not online, since Keir Starmer
was elected Labour Party leader
in April last year.

Simon Weller, assistant general
secretary; executive committee
members Marz Colombini,
Howard Kaye, and Mark
Wakenshaw; district organisers
Finn Brennan, Dicky Fisher and
Nigel Roebuck; Ed Mayne,

Feltham Electric; and Debbie Reay
and Julian Vaughan, Northern
Line North, all attended as visitors.
Collette Gibson, Shenfield, went
as a member of Labour’s National
Policy Forum.

The ASLEF train crew was busy
throughout the week listening to
debates, attending fringe events,
and ensuring that the ASLEF voice
was heard throughout the party
and the movement. ‘I am thrilled
that we are, at last, able to meet
face to face,’ said Keir Starmer on
Friday afternoon. ‘Because this
conference could not come at a
more important time for the
country and for our party.’

And Angela Rayner, deputy
leader, told Marz on Saturday
night: ‘I can’t tell you how much
I’m looking forward to delivering a

speech to a room full of Labour
members and trade unionists
instead of a Zoom screen in my
front room!’

l Conference photographs by
Andrew Wiard

A

Ever since I was a young boy, I’ve
played the silver ball, from Soho
down to Brighton, I must have
played them all: Mark, Simon, Mick,
Marz, Kerry, Dave and Dicky

Rumble in Brighton
Conference got off to a rocky start with an
unnecessary row over Keir Starmer’s proposed
rule changes. At a meeting of LabourUnions –
the organisation, chaired by our GS, which co-
ordinates the activities of the unions which
affiliate to the party – on the Wednesday
before conference the unions agreed a
position which Mick, in a comradely Zoom call,
reported to Keir. 

Two days, he explained, was too short a
time to discuss such significant changes to the
way the party is run – previous reforms have
been worked on over many months – and
Mick, mindful of what Steve Grant, Finn
Brennan’s predecessor as DO8, was wont to
say, that in a negotiation ‘You should always
leave the other feller with his bus fare home’,
suggested that Keir announce that he would
defer the proposed reforms. Only for the
leader’s office – keen to call up the ghosts of
Neil Kinnock, Tony Blair, and Banquo, to boot –
to start briefing that he would try to force
them through. 

And then, at 5pm on Friday, on the eve of
conference, the Labour leader brought the
changes – which have the fingerprints of
members of his inner circle with close ties to
the right-wing Blairite faction Labour First all
over them – back to the table.

Mick gives Keir 
timely reminder
GS Mick Whelan set out the importance of the Labour-
union link in a keynote article – under the headline ‘Why
the trade union link still matters to the Labour Party’ – in
the weekend edition of the Morning Star, which was on
sale on both Saturday and Sunday, widely distributed
throughout the Brighton Centre, and at hotels up and
down the seafront, and which triggered lively
conversations over cups of coffee, bottles of beer, and
glasses of wine wherever conference delegates met.

Mick’s full-page feature in the
Morning Star

A comfortable inn 
The ASLEF train crew stayed at the Old Ship, on
the seafront, where our annual assembly of
delegates was held in 2014. In Vanity Fair, the
wonderful – and wicked – 19th century novel by
William Makepeace Thackeray, a few of his
characters flee London for the Ship Inn – actually
the Ship Tavern when Thackeray was writing in
1847 – and now the Old Ship Hotel. Why? Because,
as the redoubtable Becky Sharp cheerfully tells
her husband, Captain Rawdon Crawley, ‘A
comfortable inn in Brighton is better than a
spunging-house [where debtors could be
detained] in Chancery Lane.’ 

QUOTE…
‘Labour faces existential implications if
it suffers a fifth election defeat’ – The
Guardian leader

…UNQUOTE

Thackeray’s savage satire
on Victorian values

‘Brighton is a town that always looks as if it is helping the police with their inquiries’ –
Keith Waterhouse Playwright and journalist‘
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NDY McDonald was cheered to the
rafters of the Albert room when he
launched his employment rights

green paper – promising a new deal for
working people – at a fringe meeting hosted
by LabourUnions and Thompsons solicitors in
the Grand Hotel on Saturday night – just 48
hours before he resigned from the shadow
cabinet. Ian Lavery, MP for Wansbeck, and a
former president of the National Union of
Mineworkers, warmly introduced Andy, with
whom ASLEF enjoyed a close and productive
relationship during his time as Shadow
Transport Secretary under Jeremy Corbyn. 

Speakers included London Mayor Sadiq
Khan, who was on sparkling form – ‘Am I the
only solicitor here who didn’t work for
Thompsons? and ‘What a pleasure it is to be
the warm-up act for Angela Rayner!’ –
followed, of course, by Labour’s deputy leader;
Anneliese Dodds, Shadow Secretary of State
for Women & Equalities; Gary Smith, general
secretary of the GMB; Jo Stevens, Shadow
Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media &
Sport; Steve Turner, AGS of Unite; Dave Ward,
GS of the CWU; Ben Selby, vice-president of
the FBU; Barry Gardiner, MP for Brent North;
and Clare Mellor, chief executive of
Thompsons solicitors.

Given the rows between the Labour Party
leader and the unions on the three days
leading up to conference, it was something of

a surprise to see Keir Starmer turn up – albeit
with two watchful bodyguards – like Daniel
walking into the lion’s den. Keir held up Andy’s
document, sang its praises, sang his praises,
and underlined the importance of the trade
unions to the Labour Party.

Mick captured the mood of the meeting
with the last speech of the evening. ‘Trade

A

Andy McDonald; Sadiq Khan; Gary    
Rayner; Keir Starmer; Barry, Maria     

Mick has spent 37 years as a railwayman, and 37 years
as a union activist, since he began work as a guard on
British Rail’s Midland region in 1984, after which he
became a freight train driver and, naturally, joined the
train drivers’ union, ASLEF. He was elected District 6
Organiser in 2000 and general secretary in 2011. Mick
became chair of TULO, the Trade Union & Labour Party
Liaison Organisation, which represents the 12 unions
which affiliate to the party – ASLEF; the Bakers, Food &
Allied Workers’ Union; Community; CWU; FBU; GMB;
Musicians’ Union; NUM; TSSA; Unison; Unite and
USDAW – and now trades as Labour Unions, in 2016. 

ERRY Cassidy
spoke from the
podium on

Saturday afternoon on a
motion she first put up at
the Labour women’s
conference in June and
which was sent to this main
party conference.

‘I am both honoured and
disappointed to be here. I
am honoured to be moving
the composite motion,
violence against women and
girls because it is a really
important motion, but I am
also very disappointed,
disappointed that in 2021
we are having to debate this
and that things have got
worse, not better, for women
and girls.

‘During the pandemic,
lockdown saw victims stuck
at home with their abusers,
unable to access support
and services. As lockdown
eased we were still not safe,
with the murder of Sarah
Everard, while walking

home, and, this week,
primary school teacher
Sabina Nessa, murdered on
a five minute walk to meet a
friend. Sadly, there are many
women and girls in between
who were murdered, some
making the headlines, some
not. Not all violence ends in
murder. Not all abuse gets
reported. And not all acts of
misogyny are seen as a
problem by society.

‘This is a composite of
several motions, raising
issues around violence,
domestic abuse, online
abuse, intimate image
abuse, lack of funding for
support services, lack of
education, not only in
schools, but also the
education of councils, police
forces, and health care
providers, all organisations
that should be there to help
women and girls escape
abuse situations.

‘We need an increase in
funding for frontline services

supporting women and
children living with, or
seeking to leave, domestic
abuse situations. We need to
invest in public services,
including local authority
housing, with specific
allocations to meet the
needs of women
experiencing domestic
abuse. We need to invest in
mental health support
services, with dedicated
resources for survivors.

‘And we need to work
with trade unions to
improve women’s safety in
the workplace, and we need
to support campaigns for
well-funded specialist public
services for survivors of
abuse and violence.’

‘I know what critics of this

motion will say. “Well, what
about the men?” Well, what
about the men? Violence
affects everyone, every
victim, every family, and
every community. The fact
that the abuse of women
and girls is acceptable by a
large section of society
makes this everyone’s
problem, and anyone can be
a victim. 

‘In my day job I am a train
driver, based at
Plymouth. Every day on my
way to work I pass through
Keyham. I see the balloons,
the flowers, the teddies, laid
in tribute by a grieving
community to five innocent
victims killed last month
while going about their daily
lives. All needlessly killed,
without warning, by a
murderer who fuelled his
hatred of women with his
own online videos,
socialising virtually in an
echo chamber of similar
views, spurred on by the
incel culture, which, until this
sad day, was probably not
taken seriously as a problem.

Misogyny should be
unacceptable, spreading
online hate should be
unacceptable, and violence
should have no place in our
society, full stop. 

‘Facts and figures can’t
tell us everything because
we know so much goes
unreported, but we know
the types of abuse
mentioned in this motion
disproportionately affect
women. Social justice,
equality, and inclusion, can
never be achieved without
recognition and support for
all women and marginalised
groups. This motion
supports BAME women,
disabled women, women of
all sexualities, trans women,
cis women, non-binary
people, young women,
older women, women who
cross many sectors, and
women who feel they do
not fit any label society tries
to give them.

‘Every woman and girl
deserves to be respected for
who they are and not live in
fear of abuse in any form.’

Misogyny is unacceptable

Proud to be union – at the heart of t  

unions formed the Labour Party to give
working people a voice in Parliament as well
as in the workplace. It has been the political
wing of our industrial movement. I am proud
to be a member of the party and proud to be
an active trade unionist. All workers should 
be in a union and all unions should 
be in the party.’

Kerry: ‘Every woman and
girl deserves respect’

K



GS Mick Whelan seconded a
composite motion on Monday
morning calling for a new,
post-pandemic, industrial
strategy to help the country
recover from covid-19.

‘Conference, I hear many
people talking about how the
covid pandemic has entirely
changed our world. That the post-pandemic world will be
different. How we work. How we communicate. How our
economy functions. I don’t entirely agree. I believe the
pandemic hasn’t created new truths. Rather it’s brought
previous truths into sharper focus. 

‘The need for an industrial strategy that puts economic
growth, good, unionised jobs, and fighting climate change at
its heart, has been desperately needed for decades. But it is,
now, more important than ever. 

‘Conference, we know that the pandemic has had huge
financial implications for working people and the UK as a
whole. The cost to the UK will be hundreds of billions of
pounds. But, as we learned the hard way following the 2008
financial crisis, you cannot cut your way of national debt. 

‘We need to invest. To grow our economy. Austerity is a
political decision. And one that fails by all measures.  

‘But simply rejecting austerity isn’t enough. The Labour
Party must demonstrate that, when we face issues on a huge
scale, we have the radical and bold polices to deal with them.
We must invest in our industry to drive a green industrial
revolution. Build capacity on our railway so we can move
people and goods around the country in a sustainable way.
The latest figures show that, for every £1 spent on rail, £2.50
was generated in the wider economy. But, conference, it make
no sense at all for the taxpayer to invest only to see private
profit leave our key industries in dividends. We cannot – and
we must not – move away from our polices of public
ownership. Of our railways. Our utilities. Royal Mail and
broadband. Because the promises made by Margaret Thatcher
and John Major about privatisation have failed to come to
fruition. And if the taxpayer invests, then the taxpayer should
reap the benefits. If we pay for it, conference, we should own
it. So let’s invest. To protect our planet. To create jobs. To build
an industrial strategy that benefits us all. Now is not the time
to retreat and shrink our ambitions. We have too much at
stake. Now, conference, is the time to be bold.’
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MARZ COLOMBINI enjoyed his journey
down to Brighton. ‘On train now,’ he shared
with our delegates’ WhatsApp group. ‘Four
people sitting opposite me. One produces a
bottle of some sort of Prosecco looking
concoction from her bag and her rather
flamboyant friend demands to know, “Oh,
darling, where on earth did you get that
rubbish from?” To which her mate replies,
“You brought it to my barbecue last week”.’

When news filtered through that, due to
covid restrictions, numbers were tight for one
reception on Saturday night, COLLETTE
GIBSON smiled, ‘This is good news for those
of us whose livers are out of practice.’ Which
prompted DICKY FISHER to announce, ‘Don’t
worry, I’m planning on running a practice
session in the pub for those of us who have
been blackballed.’ And when Collette asked,
‘Is there e-learning to be completed
beforehand?’ one member of our train crew –
we didn’t catch which one – wickedly offered,
with a nod to Pulp, ‘Es and Wizz’.

We shall also spare the blushes – in case he or
she turns out to be wrong – of the member
who peered, like Mystic Meg, into the crystal
ball and observed, ‘Wouldn’t be my personal
choice, but it wouldn’t be unwise to stick a
few of your English pounds on RACHEL
REEVES to be the next party leader…’

When HOWARD KAYE observed that ‘The
Ship’s full of freemasons having a lodge
dinner,’ FINN BRENNAN dryly muttered,
‘That’s the Labour First conference fringe.’

SAMUEL ROGERS, a minor poet, popular in
his lifetime, but best known now for his
account of his friendships with William
Wordsworth, Lord Byron, Sir Walter Scott,
Edmund Burke and Charles James Fox, wrote
memorably after one trip to the south coast
in 1829: ‘Brighton is still gay and full of balls.’ 

    y Smith; Barry Gardiner; Angela
    a Exall, Mick, and Clare Mellor

UK needs investment, not
austerity – we can’t cut our
way out of national debt

         the party

ASLEF on track
ASLEF is one of the smallest of the
12 trade unions which affiliate to
the Labour Party. While Unison
has 1,300,000 members; Unite
1,200,000; and the GMB 550,000,
we have 21,218 (plus another
2,638 in our Retired Members’
Section). But, in boxing parlance,
we punch well above our weight,
both industrially, where ASLEF has
more muscle, and much more
influence, than the other rail
unions, and politically. GS Mick
Whelan and AGS Simon Weller
have worked hard over the last
ten years within the Labour Party,
and the Trades Union Congress, to
re-establish the Associated
Society of Locomotive Engineers
& Firemen as a voice to which
people should listen.

BOOM! BOOM! BOMBAY ALOO GETS THE BIRD
Bombay Aloo, the Indian vegetarian restaurant in Ship
Street which offered an ‘eat as much as you like’ buffet, day
and night, for just £6.95 is, alas, no more. The venue, which
kept hunger at bay for many an impoverished delegate for
many a year, has made way for Boom! Bird which offers
‘wings, burgers, and fries’. Boo (or boom!) hoo…

Mick: ‘The pandemic hasn’t
created new truths’

SEAT AT THE TABLE: ASLEF has always
organised politically as well as industrially.
‘Politicians and governments, now as in the
past, set the framework for, and determine
what happens, in our industry,’ says Mick.
‘That’s why it’s so important we have a seat at
the table and a chance to lobby politicians at
Westminster, at Holyrood, and in the Senedd,
on behalf of our members.’

MICK RE-ELECTED: Mick Whelan, who was
first elected to the Labour Party’s national
executive committee in 2017, has been re-
elected again to serve on the NEC.

‘My grandad drove a steam train, my
father drove a truck |Right across North
Africa, taken prisoner at Tobruk. |And
when the war was over, and he returned
from Hell |My grandad got promoted to
the pretty Brighton Belle’ – Ralph McTell
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Labour Party conference

YELLOW FEVER
Mick wrote an article – headlined
‘Let’s walk the walk, not just talk
the talk’ – for Yellow Pages, the
daily broadside of the Campaign
for Labour Party Democracy, on
Sunday calling for a new
industrial strategy for Britain.

LITMUS TEST
Marz Colombini spoke at the
Labour & Palestine fringe –
called ‘Speaking up for Palestine:
a litmus test for Labour’ – in the
Empress room of the Grand
Hotel on Tuesday evening.

STRONGER TOGETHER
Mick Whelan spoke at the
Labour Party’s policy roadmap
‘Stronger together: a better
future for Britain’ fringe in the
Ambassador room of the Hilton
Metropole on Tuesday.

THOUGH COWARDS
FLINCH AND TRAITORS
SNEER, WE’LL KEEP…
Keir Starmer didn’t bother, after
making his leader’s speech on
Wednesday, to hang around for
the singing of The Red Flagwhich
traditionally ends a Labour Party
conference. He strode off the
stage as if he was frit. Rude, but
symbolic. Mandy’s New Labour
revival, his aides began briefing,
starts here, comrades… 

Labour in power doing what 
it does best – improving the 
lives of working people

SLEF driver Mark Prenter
spoke from the podium
on Sunday morning,

seconding a motion about
community wealth builders.

‘Conference, talk of
“Westminster bubbles” has
become a cliché. Sometimes the
term is used unfairly. An easy slur
against hard working
Parliamentarians. But there can
be no doubt that our politics, and
the coverage it receives, fails to
focus on exciting initiatives across
the regions of our country.

‘We are not in power in
Westminster, but the Labour Party
is in power in Wales, we have
some brilliant mayors, and many
visionary local authorities. Labour
in power doing what it does best.
Making change. Improving the
lives of working people. And
nothing demonstrates this better
than the local authorities which
have adopted the community
wealth building strategy. An

approach that is centred on
creating a resilient and inclusive
economy for the benefit of all
local people.

‘It’s an approach that has paid
dividends. The coronavirus
pandemic has left councils with a
financial black hole of £3 billion.
And, since 2010, the government
has cut grants to councils from
£32.2 billion to £4.5 billion. But
authorities like Preston and
Salford have managed to improve
services. To keep libraries open. To
create jobs.

‘Community wealth building
isn’t rocket science. It’s common
sense politics. Local authorities
investing the huge amounts of
money they spend on goods and
services locally. Investing pension
funds in a way that supports local
businesses. Creating skilled jobs in
the community. Ensuring a real
living wage so people have the
ability to spend locally and grow
the economy even more.

‘Conference, sometimes the
simplest ideas are the boldest and
best. We must embrace
community wealth building and
make it the default strategy for
Labour local authorities.’  

Mark: ‘We are not in power in
Westminster, but the Labour
Party is in power in Wales, we
have some brilliant mayors, and
many visionary local authorities’

QUOTE…
‘After 18 months of your
leadership, our movement
is more divided than ever
and the pledges you made
to the membership are not
being honoured’ – Andy
McDonald’s letter of
resignation to Keir
Starmer

…UNQUOTE

A

On Ian Fleming’s
special service
This picture
of EC1 Marz
Colombini
prompted
AGS Simon
Weller to
describe him
as the
‘Director of
Balloonery’
and then,
recalling
Chitty Chitty
Bang Bang,
‘aka the Child
Catcher’.

This isn’t about pitting 
worker against worker
GS Mick Whelan joined
Jim McMahon, the
Shadow Transport
Secretary; Mick Lynch, GS
of the RMT; Manuel
Cortes, GS of the TSSA;
Diana Holland, AGS of
Unite; and Cat Hobbs,
director of We Own It, for a fringe meeting
called ‘Cut climate change, not public
transport: what future for the network after
the pandemic’ in the Old Ship on Sunday
lunchtime. Mick said: ‘Ed Miliband made a
wonderful speech this morning and the hall
rose to its feet. This isn’t about pitting
worker against worker but transitioning in a
way that means we are all in a better place.’

Mick Lynch, Jim McMahon, and Manuel Cortes listen to
Mick (top); Jim on his feet (left); and Cat Hobbs (above)

The Daily Mirror party – held,
appropriately, at Revolution on
Tuesday night – has always been the go
to bash of conference, tickets are like
gold dust, and Kevin Maguire (who can
get you on the guest list) is even more
popular than usual. The Mirror party
was held with, er, ASLEF this year, but
does that excuse Collette Gibson asking
the chicken why he crossed the road?

Mirror Mirror: on the red wall

ASLEF General Secretary
Mick Whelan had
meetings with Barbara
Montalvo Alvarez, the
Cuban ambassador, on
Monday; and Tracy
Brabin, Mayor of West
Yorkshire, on Tuesday.
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Manifesto

And when all this steel 
drifts away to rust bring 
on your wrecking ball

As the government struggles
to cope with Britain’s housing
crisis GREGOR GALL, an
affiliate research associate at
the University of Glasgow,

and editor of the Scottish Left Review,
analyses the long and dark shadows
cast by previous Tory Prime Ministers
over the prospects of young people
finding a decent house to call home

ARGARET Thatcher continues to cast a
long shadow over society and politics
in Britain. We had another reminder

of that in early August with Boris Johnson’s
boorish boast that she had great ‘green’
credentials because she shut down Britain’s
pits. On a visit to an offshore windfarm in the
north of Scotland, he pronounced: ‘Thanks to
Margaret Thatcher, who closed so many coal
mines [he paused to cackle here] across the
country, we had a big early start and we’re now
moving rapidly away from coal altogether.’

While most people were, rightly, offended
by this stupid remark, no one took it seriously
as it was utterly ludicrous and made BoJo look
like he is the village idiot. But if we do look for
Thatcher’s continuing and malign influence,
the notion of a ‘property-owning democracy’ is
one of the best to examine. This was,
sometimes, and bizarrely, traded as ‘people’s
capitalism’. 

‘What Sid forgot to tell you’

The most obvious component of this was
the massive privatisation programme of public
assets, especially the utilities of power and
water. Coal privatisation took place in 1995, six
years after Thatcher left office. But no ‘people’s
capitalism’ developed out of the privatisation.
Although some working-class people bought
small amounts of shares – as did some of the
workers in the industries privatised – what ‘Sid’
did not tell them was that they had to hang on
to their shares for people’s capitalism to have
any chance of coming true.

‘Tell Sid’ was the 1986 privatisation
advertising campaign to sell off shares in
British Gas. As the shares were deliberately
under-priced, to ensure a successful sell off,
they quickly rose in value and most people
then sold them to get hold of some much-
needed cash.   

Privatisation of public assets – selling you
something you already own – was always a
ridiculous idea. But Thatcher, and her successor
John Major, weren’t interested in the post-war
consensus, and a balanced economy, they
were blinkered ideologues in thrall to Ronald
Reagan and the mad monetarism of Milton
Friedman and his Chicago school of economics

– which even George Bush famously
described as ‘voodoo economics’ – and
determined to destroy what they saw as the
pillars of the Labour Party, and organised
labour, in Britain. 

‘Thatcher did a number on our housing’

Thatcher’s other great sell-off was of
council housing. Even though publicly-
provided housing was accepted by earlier Tory
leaders as part of the post-war settlement,
Thatcher hated it on three grounds. 

First, it was, to her, socialist, even Marxist.
Second, it meant that local authorities had an
important place in politics and society – and
too many of these were run by  (in her view)
socialists and Marxists. Third, such public
provision of essential services stifled
individuality, innovation, competition and her
personal god, ‘the free market’. 

Following her ideological hero, Friedrich
von Hayek, she believed that council housing
put people on the ‘road to serfdom’ (as the
title of his 1944 book stated) by not only
making people ‘all the same’ but by doing so
through collective provision and not their own
individual self-reliance.

Thatcher felt she could do a ‘number’ on
council housing by simultaneously
undermining the Labour Party and enhancing
support for the Tories. She believed council
housing was part and parcel of why so many
people were tied politically to supporting
Labour. She also believed privatising council
houses would provide a bedrock of support
for the Tories in future years, as council houses
were to be sold off at a snip – on average half
of their market value – with new home owners
able to express their individuality by doing up
their homes any way they wanted. 

Setting aside the situation of women and
Scotland and Wales, ‘an Englishman’s home is
his castle’, as the phrase goes, was to be the
order of the day. This was the real test of the
property-owning democracy. It was to be a
proud people’s capitalism.  

But there was another part of this cunning
plan. This was that more home owners now
with mortgages to pay and the risk of losing
their home if they defaulted on monthly
payments would reduce workers’ willingness
to go on strike. 

So the Housing Act 1980 affected some six
million people and about one in three bought

their houses. According to Michael ‘Tarzan’
Heseltine, Secretary for the Environment
(which included housing), ‘There is in this
country a deeply ingrained desire for home
ownership. The government believes that this
spirit should be fostered,’ adding, ‘no single
piece of legislation has enabled the transfer of
so much capital wealth from the state to the
people’.

All well and good then? At least, for the
Tories? In the immediate aftermath, probably.
DIY took off and everything seemed rosy in
the garden. But it did not take long for the
problems to begin to stack up – albeit not
especially for the Tories in terms of being in
office in Downing Street.  

In the law that paved the way for the sell-
off, only half of the receipts from sales went to
councils and these were not allowed to be
used to build more council houses. This had
two effects. One was the fast-declining
number of council houses. The other was that
what council housing was left was the stock
that was most in need of repair and upgrade.
And so began the supercharging of what we
now know as the ‘housing crisis’, especially
afflicting Generation Z.

‘Getting on the property ladder is still just 
a dream’

The sons and daughters – and maybe even
grandchildren – of those who bought their
council houses are among those who cannot
get decent, affordable, and secure housing.
Private renting has grown exponentially –
prices have spiralled upwards while standards
have dived downwards. 

Getting on the ‘property ladder’ is still but a
dream for many, even with interest rates
exceptionally low for more than a decade.
These problems are worse in exactly the
places where most council houses were sold
off: London, the south-east of England, and
the south of England. Even when people can
get on the ‘ladder’, they do not necessarily
move up it as the Tories said they would
because house price rises outstrip wage rises.

Being able to sell your house for twice what
you bought it for isn’t much comfort if the one
you want is twice the price of your old one.
Now that sounds like a ‘road to serfdom’ and
not liberation by capitalism, which might have
been what Thatcher and the über-right really
wanted all along.

Robert Jenrick
was quick to
pocket a large
cheque from
his mate, the
porn baron
cum property
developer
Richard
Desmond, but
was slow to
address
Britain’s
housing crisis

M
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Branch Lines

n TOTON: FRIDAY 29 OCTOBER
The 2021 Toton old boys’ reunion will
be held at the Sportsman, Derby Road,
Long Eaton, Derbyshire, NG10 4HA,
from 19.30. All welcome! email
reginald.sargeant@gmail.com

n ASHFORD: 
WEDNESDAY 3 NOVEMBER
Ashford Old Guard reunion (open to all
rail workers and their partners) from
11.00 at Ashford Railway Club, Beaver
Road, Ashford, Kent. 

n GATESHEAD & NEWCASTLE: 
FRIDAY 26 NOVEMBER
Gateshead & Newcastle branch has a
52A reunion from 13.00 at the Bowling
Green Club, Gateshead. All present and
retired members welcome, buffet will
be provided. Gary Arrowsmith, branch
secretary.

n ASHFORD: 
THURSDAY 6 JANUARY
‘Confirmed for next year!’ says Grudd.
From 11.00 at Ashford Railway Club. 

n RAMSGATE: 
THURSDAY 7 APRIL
‘Glad to confirm that the Ramsgate
railway reunion will be held from 11.00
at the Red Arrows Club, Ramsgate,’ says
Steve ‘Grudd’ Gurdler.

n TONBRIDGE: 
THURSDAY 7 JULY
Railway reunion from 11.00 at the New
Telegraph Club, Priory Road, Tonbridge,
Kent. 

l Please send your branch news,
reports, articles, features,
presentations, and photographs to
journal@aslef.org.uk

Upcoming Events

Derek Watkins – one of
the Pentonville Five
On Monday 20 September, Steve Roast,
Marylebone branch member and trade
council delegate, and I attended the
funeral of Derek Watkins at Eltham
crematorium (where Tony West had his
funeral). Derek was one of the Pentonville
Five, which until recently was an event of
which I was unaware. But whilst attending
Marylebone branch, Steve recounted the
story that had been discussed at the trade
council, and it was agreed that we would
attend the funeral and provide a wreath
on behalf of ASLEF.
DO7 Steve Austin

Back at the (real, 
not virtual) branch

E ENJOYED
our first
branch

meeting in person,
and to actually
socialise, since March
2020, since when it
has been by
Zoom. The branch
was very well
attended because
two legendary retired
members, Kelvin
Higgins and Steve
Gooch, have both
reached 50 years of
memberhip in ASLEF. 

Kelvin gave a
powerful speech
about numerous
issues regarding the
ASLEF Journal and
how it has changed
over the 50 years he
has been reading it;
and the way the
railway has changed
in that time. He
talked about how so
many fathers, sons,
and grandsons have
followed each other
in a railway career at
Ipswich and finished
by saying how proud
he is to be in ASLEF
and the branch is in
good hands. 

Steve Gooch said
he was also very
proud to be in ASLEF
for 50 years and
thanked everyone for
coming. They were
both presented with
their 50 year
medallions by branch
chair Mark Mulley.    

The chair also
presented Graham

Mays, aka The Kernel,
our h&s rep, with his
long-awaited
retirement certificate
and ASLEF tankard.
Lee Barber, branch
secretary, was
presented with his 35
year badge. Other
members who have
long service are:
Dimitrios Xiarchos 5
years; Michael Flatt,
Oliver Fosker; James
Garthwaite, and
Anthony Knight 10;
Adam Grueber 15;
Christopher Beales,
David Brown, Andrew

Hankin, Adrian Harris,
Steve Harvey; David
Hughes, T May, Robin
Mayes, and Stephen
Sheeran 20; Ashley
Moore 25; George
Homatopoulos and K
Osborne 30; Lee

Barber, Gary Cox and
Simon Hutchison 35;
Tom King 40; D
Greenfield 45.
Congratulations all!
Lee Barber Ipswich
109 branch
secretary

W

Goochy and Higgo celebrate 50 years
(clockwise from top left): Mark Mulley and
Kelvin Higgins; Mark and Steve Gooch; Steve,
Lee Barber, and Kelvin; Graham Mays (aka
The Kernel) and Mark; and (below) Kelvin and
Greater Anglia colleagues

How good is it that we can meet again in person?
Tuesday 21 September saw our monthly meeting at the Lucas Arms, near King’s Cross, London –
how good is it that our branches can, once again, meet in person? – with 12 active members and
one retired member in attendance. As well as conducting our usual branch business, we were
honoured to be joined on this occasion not only by our district organiser Finn Brennan but also
the general secretary Mick Whelan, both of whom gave informative and detailed addresses
regarding both the industry throughout the pandemic and where we, as members, have a role to
play in challenges to our jobs and conditions as we go forward.

The GS presented membership badges to Terry Roffe (5 years), branch h&s rep Mark Cole (30
years) and branch IR rep Tim Miles (40 years). An evening of refreshments then followed. We’d like
to thank both Mick and Finn for their time.
Kev Bullions LU Test Trains 279 branch chair
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On Friday 21 July 1972, five shop stewards
were imprisoned for picketing the site of the
Midland Cold Storage Company at Temple
Mills in East London. Derek Watkins, along with
four others, was sentenced to imprisonment in
North London for ignoring an injunction to
stop picketing at the site. The group became
known, collectively, as the Pentonville Five.

This move – unjust and unfair – caused
fellow workers to take action, generating a
series of strikes in the docks as well as in other
industries. There were protests in London in
which Pentonville prison itself was picketed.
The TUC general council called for a one-day
general strike to be held on 31 July. The threat
of a national day of action put serious pressure
on Ted Heath’s Conservative government
which resulted in a sudden U-turn – a ‘re-
interpretation of the law’ by the courts – and
which led to the release of the Pentonville Five

Derek knew that ‘unity is our strength’

on 26 July.     
As ASLEF members it is important that we

remember that unity is our strength, not only
within our own union but within the wider
trade union movement itself. The courageous
actions of these five men, and all the others
involved, proves that there is strength in
numbers that can make governments listen,
and encourage changes in the law.

As for the Pentonville Five, this was a

notable event in the history of industrial
relations in Britain regarding trade unions and
the law. It is also an inspiring example of the
collective strength of trade unions. 

Derek Watkins passed away on 21 August.
But his legacy lives on.
Steve Roast Marylebone branch 132 trade
council delegate

’m a new driver for CrossCountry at
Birmingham. My dad was a driver,
too, and has recently retired. As a

son who is proud of his father, I have written
a few words for the Journal for all those who
have known him over the years.

My dad, Geoff Connerty, started his
railway career as a carriage cleaner at Bank
Hall, Liverpool, in 1977, the year of the Silver
Jubilee, when the Ford Fiesta first went on
sale and Fleetwood Mac topped the charts. 

He didn’t spend long as a cleaner as, in
1978, he started on his journey as a driver, as
a traction trainee at Liverpool Lime Street
where, in 1983, he was passed as a driver. As
a BR driver he drove everything from units to
diesels and electrics, from passenger to
freight. Then, at sectorisation, he went to
work on Regional Railways on First
NorthWestern, finally joining up with Virgin
in 1999 and Avanti until his retirement. 

My grandad William Connerty – known as
Bill – was a driver at Bank Hall from 1934

Lime Street legend 

Like father, like son (and grandson): Geoff with his father William; and Jamie with his father Geoff

until he retired in 1981. 
He was the branch secretary at Bank Hall

for many years and passed on the
importance of being in ASLEF to my dad
from the start of his driving career,
something my dad has passed on to me,
being the third generation of train drivers in
the family. 

On my dad’s final drive into Lime Street
from Euston on Wednesday 1 September
after 44.5 years on the railway, there was a

crowd of well-wishers waiting along the
platform, family and friends and many, many
colleagues. It was a very touching moment
seeing all those people turn up to say
goodbye and wish him good luck for the
future. 

And on a personal note I want to say
thank you, dad, for all the memories you’ve
given me and I hope I make you as proud of
me as I am of you. Happy retirement!
Jamie Connerty

In September Longsight
branch held its first in
person branch meeting
since March 2020. It was a
well-attended branch and
it was good to conduct
business in person; the
online medium has many
benefits but there is one
thing we could not do
online and that is present
long service badges. Our
always and most welcome

guest, DO3 Andy
Hourigan, was on hand to
do the honours. He
presented a 35 year
badge to one of our most
loyal members, Andy
Miller. Andy was a
Victoria Vulture at
Newton Heath branch for
many years and his input
and opinions are always
most valued. A 30 year
badge was then

presented to Ian
Wilkinson from the
CrossCountry LLC who
has been at Longsight
since starting his
footplate career. On a
personal note, I was re-
elected to serve my
members on the AWC
Council; it’s a privilege
and a honour to serve our
members and I thank you
for your continued
support. In solidarity!
Alan Moss Longsight 126
branch 

Andy Miller pictured, says Alan, stood on a
milk crate and receiving his 35 year badge

That’s handy, Andy

I
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Points & Crossings

Green light for a new era
on the railway in Wales

The first
eight
apprentice
drivers who
signed up
and four
trainers
(including
Emma
fourth from
right)

HE first accredited qualification in
Wales for train driving has been given
the go-ahead – and the first

apprentices signed up in Cardiff on Friday 8
October.

GS Mick Whelan said: ‘We are thrilled that
this is, finally, in place. It proves that
persistence pays off because this is something
we have been pushing for, for years. And I note
that it is only under a Welsh government – a
Labour government – that it has happened.’

The new professional qualification differs
from England’s apprenticeship because it’s a
Level 3 qualification, not a standard. It’s fully
funded by the Welsh government’s
apprenticeship scheme and not by the
apprenticeship levy.

Mick added: ‘Transport for Wales is planning
on recruiting 100 drivers every year for the
next five years and they will all be given the
chance to gain this qualification. It’s a great
step forward for training, for train drivers, for

the railway, and for Wales.’
Following the development of the Level 3

train driving standard in England, ASLEF
decided, two and a half years ago, to pursue an
equivalent qualification in Wales. Emma
Penman, project worker at the ASLEF
Education: Learning Partnership Programme,
worked closely with Deri Bevan of the Wales
TUC to lobby TfW for support. 

‘It was an arduous process,’ said Emma.
‘These things are tricky and take time and, at
one point, it looked as if the whole thing
would collapse as the number of

apprenticeships on offer was thought to be
too low to warrant the development of the
framework. But, in February last year, I
contacted Ken Skates, the Minister for
Economy, Transport & North Wales, and he
offered his support. In September 2020 Ian
Thompson (Treherbert branch, and TfW
company council) and I met TfW, Coleg Y
Cymoedd, the apprenticeship provider
partner, and EAL, the specialist skills awarding
body, to form a working group to develop the
qualification. We got approval in February and
have now signed up our first apprentices!’

T

South of the river
When the two mile Northern line
extension – linking Kennington to
Nine Elms and Battersea Power
Station – opened on Monday 20
September driver instructor
Nicola Lowe joined London Mayor
Sadiq Khan, Transport Secretary
Grant Shapps, London Assembly
Members, and councillors at the
launch while Tanya Clarke was
down the platform driving one of
the first services.

Nicola Lowe with Sadiq Khan;
and Tanya Clarke (above)

PROTECTING PASSENGERS AND STAFF
GS Mick Whelan told Caroline Davies, the
BBC’s transport correspondent: ‘We believe
mask-wearing should be mandatory on
trains. To protect passengers and staff and
to control the covid-19 pandemic. It is
mandatory – but not enforced – on TfL and
we have noticed a decline in the number of
passengers wearing masks on trains.’

YOBS SMASH DRIVER’S WINDOW
The British Transport Police is investigating
after yobs hurled an object at a Class 331
Northern Trains service to Blackpool North
as it passed through Leyland station at
9.45pm on Saturday 9 October. 

The driver’s window was smashed, and
the driver left very shaken though,
fortunately, not hurt. 

TRANSPORT CAMPAIGN CALL TO BAN
UK FLIGHTS AND SLASH RAIL FARES
The Campaign for Better Transport,
highlighting the relative environmental
and financial costs of rail and air travel, says
domestic flights should be banned and
long-distance train fares subsidised. It has
called on the government to outlaw
internal flights if an equivalent train
journey takes less than five hours.

KEN WOOLNOUGH
Our dad, driver Kenneth Woolnough,
passed away on Sunday 3 October at
Nightingale House Hospice in Wrexham.
Dad was a member of the union and, before
retiring, was very involved with the union.
We are devastated about his passing but
have peace knowing he is no longer
enduring his illness.
Debbie and Andrew Woolnough (Ken’s
daughter and son)

Nigel’s on board

Nigel (standing, fourth from left) gave a rousing speech

Newton Heath welcomed new lead officer Nigel
Roebuck, DO3 Andy Hourigan, and EC member John
Metcalfe to our branch and presentation evening on
Friday 24 September. Nigel gave a rousing, and very
welcome, address and we had a presentation of 45, 30
and 20 year membership badges and ties. A very
enjoyable (and lively) evening was had by all!
Paul Keeler Newton Heath 143 assistant branch
secretary

LSER - missing taxpayers’
millions must be returned
After the government announced that the Operator of
Last Resort is to take over the running of the London
& South Eastern Railway – following an investigation
which revealed that more than £25 million of
taxpayers’ money was not declared by the company –
Mick Whelan called for the cash to be paid and for the
company to be banned from running future
franchises, now under a system of DfT direct awards.

‘Whilst we welcome LSER coming back under public
control it should be permanent at a time when the
industry is in flux due to post-pandemic uncertainty.
The millions of pounds the company didn’t pay must
be fully investigated and the group precluded from
bidding for, or receiving, franchises.’
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Obituaries

ANDREW BEATON
A REAL RAILWAYMAN

T IS with a
heavy heart
that I must

report the passing of
our friend Andrew
Beaton, beloved
husband, father, and
colleague. Andy, as
we all knew him,
passed away on 28
May, at 61, after a
battle with cancer.
Our thoughts are
with his wife Marge
and all the family.

Andy began his
railway career at
Westerton station in
1984. He also served

time at Bridgeton as
a guard, then
Polmadie, and finally
moved to Yoker
depot as a train driver
in 1992. Andy loved
his job, he was a
quiet, strong, no-
nonsense and
reliable guy who
treated his
colleagues as friends. 

He, in turn, was a
source of advice and
support to all of us
working with him. A
true gentleman who
would rather say
nothing than say a

bad word about
someone in public. 

He was a real
railwayman, trusted
and respected by all
who knew him at
Yoker and beyond,
and is sorely missed.

Despite Andy’s
dedication to his

work his real loves
were his wife Marge,
his daughters Laura
and Amanda, son
Andrew, and seven
grandchildren. He
always took great
strength and pride
from his family and
this continued when
he became unwell
and the family rallied
round to care for him
at home throughout
his illness, bringing
love and comfort to
him in his final days. 

Rest well, Andy
my friend, because
our memories of you
are happy ones.
Ed Kelly Yoker 259
branch secretary

Andy: source of
advice and support

I

Our former colleague and good friend
Frank Ifill sadly passed away
on Sunday 12 September 2021. Our
thoughts and prayers are with his
family and close friends.
Gary Jarman Hammersmith & City
267 branch secretary

FRANK IFILL 1965-2021

CHARLIE ‘CHIC’ OSWALD FOUGHT WITH THE PARAS AT ARNHEM
It is my sad duty to report that ex-
Perth branch stalwart Charlie
‘Chic’ Oswald passed away, at the
age of 95, on 20 August. Chic
started work as an aircraft
engineer and, as a teenager,
served towards the end of WW2 in
North Africa and the Middle East;
he was also at the notorious
defence of the Bridge at Arnhem
with the Airborne Engineers
Regiment, which became 23
Parachute Engineer Regiment. 

After being demobbed, Chic
found his previous job at Scone

aerodrome was no longer
available so joined the recently-
formed British Rail at Perth’s
Friarton depot (63A) on 6 July
1948. This was a majority NUR
depot, and that was the union
Chic joined. Then came the 1955
ASLEF strike, which the NUR didn’t
support, and Chic led an exodus
of firemen, and even some drivers,
to join ASLEF, which marked the
beginning of the end for the NUR
representing footplate staff in
Perth. Over the years Chic was,
variously, branch secretary,

branch chair, and LDC chair; he
once told me his one
disappointment was that he never
attended AAD. He was branch
delegate to Perth trades council
and a stalwart of the local Labour
Party, acting as a steward at
several party conferences in Perth,
a city that has never returned a
Labour MP. 

Chic retired on 6 October 1990
and I’d often bump into him in
town as he made the most of his
well-earned retirement. Chic led a
remarkable life, and Perth branch

Chic led an NUR exodus to ASLEF
sends its sincerest condolences to
Chic’s family.
Grant Murchie Perth 134
branch secretary

ANDREW WOODS TALK OF THE TOUN
It’s with great sadness that we announce the passing of retired
member Andrew Woods, 89, of Polmont, Falkirk. A true
railwayman all his days who continued that fraternity
throughout retirement, ‘salt of the earth’ is how he was
described by friends and colleagues, a man who thrived on the
pressures of working, and raising a family. Two of his sons, Tony
and Martin, became train drivers, making him a very proud dad,
grandad, and great-grandad. Andrew was well-respected not
just by railway colleagues, but in his community, partly because
of his friendly, cheery personality, and partly due to the wee
part-time role he created on his land running a plant and
vegetables nursery, which became a full-time occupation on
retirement, where he welcomed all who visited, especially
during the festive season when he was the Talk of the Toun
making up Christmas wreaths for everyone’s front doors. You
had to order early to get one, truly amazing they were. 

Andrew continued his railway friendships with ex-colleagues
by regularly attending the Auld Man’s Do (retired drivers’ night)
held each year in Edinburgh until his health deteriorated and he
could no longer manage to make the journey. Like a lot of the
old drivers, he was never short of a tale or two, but would never
say a word in earnest against anyone. He will be missed by all.
Thanks, again, for being one of the great guys, and another
gentleman who’ll never be forgotten. As the song goes, ‘Oh
Flower of Scotland, when will we see your like again?’ 
Rab Wicksted Edinburgh No 2 branch secretary

AVE SIGSTON
started his
working life on

the railway straight from
school, in 1978, passing
the entrance exam at 30A
Stratford which
amounted to a very hard
test (the pass rate, with
very few exceptions, was
100%). He was influenced
in his choice of depot by
his father Ernie who was a
driver, and staunch ASLEF
man, at Ripple Lane and
that’s where Dave stayed
as a second man and,
later, a driver until the
depot closed, when he
chose to go to Clacton,
on a redundancy move,
where he stayed until a
forced medical problem
put paid to his career.
Dave was indebted to
DO5 Nigel Gibson and

the ASLEF team which
secured him an ill health
package. Dave was a joy
to work with and, as they
say, ‘Anything can happen
in the next half hour’, and
it usually did with Dave.
After leaving the job he
endured many years of
dialysis at Colchester
hospital, twice a week,
right to the end. There
were hopes of getting a
kidney but they were
dashed. At the recent

Ripple Lane outing to
Clacton, Dave was
adamant he would treat
it as a chance to attend
his own wake and he
fulfilled his wish of being
there in the company of
family, friends, and work
mates. He passed away at
03.20 hrs on Thursday 23
September at St Helen’s
Hospice in Colchester.
Dave was just preparing
himself for this year’s
onion pickling season
and he and I often
swapped tips and recipes
on how to get the best
and crunchiest in more
ways than one. Our
condolences to Christine
and his family who are to
arrange a memorial
service at a later date.
Cliff Blackwell Retired
Members’ Section

DAVE SIGSTON ALWAYS ONE OF THE BOYS

Sigo attends his own
wake at the recent
Clacton outing 

D
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Letters

I write this letter in the knowledge that, by the
time it has been published, I will have finally
retired fully from the rail industry after 41 years
(albeit that I finished driving in October 2018).
On Thursday 16 September I attended my last
meeting of the board of trustee directors of
the Railways Pension Scheme, a role in which I
have represented ASLEF, and the 350,000
members of the scheme, since February 2001,
and so ends an almost continuous period of
representing members since 1987. I would like
to place on record my most sincere thanks to
all my friends and colleagues within the
railway industry, be it at my branch, right
through to the executive committee, officers,
and general secretary (present and past) all
whom have supported and encouraged me
over the many years. 

I started on the railway at the tender age of
15 and I would have laughed in people’s faces
had they told me what the future held and the
role I would play in the shaping of ASLEF, its
members’ conditions, and the RPS. It just goes
to show what can be done with the help and
encouragement of your mentors – the likes of
John Pipe and Neville Weller, with whom I
served on the LDC at Norwich, and Lew
Adams, and the late Tony West, and Denis
Cadywold, to name just a few – who were
icons to me as a young man. 

There are so many people I would love to
thank, but I am limited for space, however I
would just like, in particular, to thank Mick
Whelan for his unwavering support over
recent years; when my struggles against
cancer seemed a mountain his unwavering
support was a real strength and a tonic. And I

Come and join the conversation! Send letters by email to
journal@aslef.org.uk or by Royal Mail to the ASLEF Journal
at 77 St John Street, Clerkenwell, London, EC1M 4NN

would like to wish Howard Kaye all the best of
luck in the future as he takes over from me on
the board of trustee directors of the Railways
Pension Scheme. I know he will hit the ground
running and do a fantastic job on behalf of the
members of the RPS. Finally, I wish to thank my
ever-suffering wife and son for their love and
support, having to put up with me being away
from home, sometimes for days at a time, and
locking myself away at home reading volumes
of reports and deeds. I could not have coped
without them. 
Dave Tyson Norwich 146 branch 

Delinquent director not fit
and proper person for ILO
As a trade union activist, Labour Party
member, and anti-apartheid campaigner, I
am writing to you because South Africa has
nominated businessman and entrepreneur
Mthunzi Mdwaba as a candidate to be
director general of the International Labour
Organisation and I believe he is not a
suitable person for this job.

The ILO is the leading umbrella body for
trade unions. The global economy faces
significant disruptive changes with the
fourth industrial revolution, climate
change, a transition to a green economy,
and the shift of the world geopolitically and
economically to South Asia. 

The ILO will have to be an agent for
justice for workers. The job requires
someone who will be able to help the ILO
develop a vision of what justice in
workplaces to come might look like and
manage the transitions thereto, enable the
ILO to work with governments, trade union
bodies, the private sector, and multi-lateral
organisations, and help trade unions to
make gains on most days so that workers
build competencies and confidence to
tackle the challenges ahead.

This requires trade union leadership
with integrity, honesty, decency, courage,
and fortitude. And that is why Mthunzi
Mdwaba is unsuitable. He was declared a
delinquent director in a High Court
judgement on 27 November 2012 and
barred from holding office for at least
seven years. In November 2016 another
High Court was sufficiently concerned
about his failure to comply with the earlier
judgement that special mention was made
of him in its concluding remarks. Moreover,
the judge informed the Minister of Higher
Education and the university at which he
was chairperson of the council that he was
acting in violation of court rulings.
I urge ASLEF and other trade unions to
oppose his candidacy. Being director
general of the ILO should be an honour,

especially for an African trade unionist. I
cannot extend that joy to this candidate
who is not a fit and proper person for the
job. I am a member of the Labour Party and
I come from the anti-apartheid struggle.
The trade union movement played a
significant role in the boycott and sanctions
campaign against apartheid. But this
candidate is not a fruit of that struggle.
Mogamat Craayenstein

Light relief in dark times
I enjoyed reading the short story by Tony
Wood entitled Driver (Journal, October). I
could picture all the events as I’m sure they
ring true with all on the footplate. Whilst very
descriptive, he brings the scene to life in a very
imaginative and amusing way, and extremely
relatable, I’m sure, to many readers. A great
light relief piece in these dark times, with
humour and imagination creating a belly
laugh for me having a quick read. Keep up the
good work on our quality magazine.
John Thorpe Stratford

I definitely had a chuckle
Just a quick note to say how refreshing it
was to read Driver Wood’s piece in this
month’s Journal. I’m sure many drivers, like
myself, could relate. It’s certainly a situation
I have found myself in over the numerous
slippy seasons I’ve experienced. I definitely
had a chuckle. Is there more to come from
Driver? There are so many situations we
find ourselves in the material is almost
endless! Thank you for brightening this
month’s issue!
Driver Leon Howlett 

I was absolutely appalled
I was appalled – and must protest – at the
language used on page 6 of the October
Journal: ‘Sh*t’, ‘F*ck’, and ‘Christ’. Whatever
language Driver Wood uses in private, or in his
cab, is no excuse for you to publish these
words in his story – you demean the quality of
the Journal. As a Christian, I object to the use
of my saviour’s name in this way. You would
not dare to use equivalent language to offend
adherents to other religions, but Christians
and their leader are, it seems, fair game.
Although, ironically, Driver’s repeated cries to
God did achieve his desired outcome. I hope
he was grateful! Please do not repeat.
Eric Stuart Retired Members’ Section

Driver – a wonderful read
I want to give feedback on the piece by
Tony Wood in the Journal (October). It was a
great change of pace and a wonderful
read! I also appreciate how you didn’t feel
the need to censor the writing. Sometimes
language has a time and a place and adds
to good writing. After all, I’m sure most – if
not all – drivers hear or speak similar
language in a mess room! 
David Bowery

Thanking family, friends,
and comrades after 41
years in the rail industry

Dave Tyson was hailed by GS Mick Whelan as
‘one of the greatest presidents of this trade
union’ and ‘a man with a backbone of steel’
as he handed him honorary life membership
of ASLEF at our AAD in Leeds in 2019: EC6
Dave Calfe, Mick Whelan, Dave Tyson, EC5
Howard Kaye and DO5 Nigel Gibson
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To advertise please phone 020 7324 2400
or send an email to journal@aslef.org.uk

PERTH branch badge to
commemorate 110 years (1908-
2018). £6 plus £1 p&p. Cheques
payable to Perth branch ASLEF No
134 General. Please contact branch

secretary Grant Murchie for details on 07412
453454 or grantmu32@btinternet.com 

AIRDRIE has produced a badge to
commemorate its reopening as a
separate branch. £6.50 inc p&p. Please
contact branch chair Ivan Wilson
(07949 862393) for details.

HANDMADEminiature driver’s
keys to wear as a charm or round
the neck. Solid silver and solid 9ct

gold weighing approximately 7 grams. Just over
2cm in length and just under 2cm width. Gold
£300, silver £100 + £7 p&p recorded delivery.
Contact Brad McCarthy on 07929 350146.

THE KING’S CROSS STORY
by Peter Darley (The History
Press, £20) as featured on the
centre pages of the January
Journal. Buy it direct from the

Camden Railway Heritage Trust at a discounted
price of £15 inc p&p; email Darleyp@aol.com or
phone 020 7586 6632 for details. ‘All income from
sales goes to the trust,’ says Peter.

RAILWAY SERVICE Throughout
the pandemic railway workers have
played their part in keeping this
country moving. Retired Barnham
driver Bob Dorkings and Par driver

Paul Edwards have produced a covid service badge
in nine versions: BR red; BR blue; BR black;
Eastern Region blue; Midland Region maroon;
North-Eastern Region orange; Southern Region
green; Scottish Region light blue; and Western
Region brown. Each badge costs £5 (plus £2.50
p&p) from rdorkings@yahoo.com or
paul.edwards1962@sky.com

PORTSMOUTH and ISLE
OF WIGHT branch 164 has
struck a new badge for
active and retired members.

Set of two £12 plus £1.20 postage; email
wdrailbadgeinfo@gmail.com

NORWOOD depot special pin badges
including Cowden 25th anniversary.
£3 each or £5 the pair (inc p&p).
Proceeds to Norwood Drivers’ Social
Club. Email Stuart Boxall at
stuboxall@gmail.com

CASH paid for original pre 90s
railway photographic slides or
negatives. Please contact GBRf

Tonbridge driver (and railwayana collector) John
Waddington at johnwaddo@yahoo.com

DARLINGTON 125th
anniversary badge 1895-2020.
All badges individually
numbered. £6.50 inc p&p.
Please contact branch secretary

John Clark by email at johnclark162@gmail.com

KEYWORKER badge to recognise
the hard work of all railway and
other keyworkers this year. £5 plus
£1 p&p from Fiona Lumsden (MTR
Elizabeth line and Paddington

branch). Please email georgiaf44@hotmail.com

The unloved Class 47 – ice formed on the inside windows – at Leamington Spa station

I was very interested in the article about better driving cabs (Journal, August)
because, as a second man at Eastleigh for 15 years, and a driver at Fratton for 26
years, I must have experienced just about every bad cab environment possible.
There was the Class 47 where ice formed on the inside window and we had to put
our feet in bin liners or use our overcoats to protect our legs from the draughts. On
the Southern EMUs it was howling gales and flooded floors in wet weather, and
violent rattly cab side windows that would drive the most placid driver insane!
Then we had the Hampshire DEMUs that had absolutely freezing cabs as we waited
for the radiator to get hot from a cold start and the same cabs filled with diesel
exhaust fumes when the window was opened in hot weather.

On the flip side, I worked 158 and 170 units from new and found them to be a
welcome change from what I had been used to, so it was a great surprise to read
that they are two of the units receiving the most complaints! I admit that the 158
lacked air conditioning and, although cab fans were added later, they made little
difference on hot days. As for the 170s, I found them to be excellent in every aspect
and they were, by far, the best units I ever worked on. They also had air
conditioning from new, not added at a later date like the 159s. So other than a/c
issues what has gone wrong on the 158s and 170s to cause so many complaints?

I wonder if it all comes down to the age of units in general, because I have to say
that every form of traction I have ever driven was perfectly okay when new or in
the first few years of their life. So perhaps it’s not the cab design, but age-related
problems that gradually get worse and are never rectified. When I drove the
Southern EMUs they were on their last legs and there was nothing anyone could
do to alleviate the ongoing problems. On one occasion I was so engrossed in trying
to limit a noisy frontal door that I overshot a station platform.

I also found the driving positions of all traction to be satisfactory until the new
Desiro units arrived on the South Western section. I’m told that, prior to their
introduction, a South West Trains instructor was invited to a cab mock up, along
with a union rep, at a location somewhere in the UK. The instructor voiced his
concerns regarding the cab control layout, after which he was invited to Germany
to see the new units. To his dismay the cab controls had remained the same, so his
initial input had been ignored!

Up to the Desiros introduction, I had spent all my railway career on all traction
looking down on the track, but I now had a low seat position that meant I was
mostly looking at sky. Not only that, but it was impossible to look out of the side
window or, indeed, open it as the seat was so far forward. I must admit my slim
frame is easily accommodated to virtually all seating positions and, to be fair, I
never heard of anyone more robust than myself complaining about driving
positions until the arrival of the Desiros.

The main complaint from those who are larger in stature is that the inside left
hand rail is so close to the arm rest that it causes the driver to bang his arm against
it when taking power! It is also quite impractical to stand up to drive, so any sign of
tiredness cannot be alleviated by changing the driving position. As for clean cabs, I
found that some drivers are not too bothered about the state of the cab, although I
made a special point of sweeping them out myself.
Alan Wallbank

Ice formed on the inside windows with
our feet in bin liners to keep warm
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ASSOCIATED SOCIETY OF LOCOMOTIVE ENGINEERS AND FIREMEN

Statement to members issued in connection with the union’s annual return for the period ended 31 December 2020
As required by Section 32A of Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992

Income and Expenditure
The total income of the union for the period was £7,634,592. This amount included payments of £7,039,197 in respect of membership income of the union. The union’s total expenditure
for the period was £11,389,541. 

Political Fund
In respect of the Union’s political fund its total income was £214,695 and total expenditure was £69,968.

Salary paid to and other benefits provided to the General Secretary
The General Secretary was paid the following amounts in respect of salary or benefits:

• Salary - £106,226     • Pension contributions - £27,877     • Employer’s NIC – £13,444

Executive Committee (Note 9) Name/Allowance £
Baxter J 13,567, Calfe D 13,267, Colombini M 55,083, Metcalfe J 15,304, Hudd A 1,125, Kaye H 46,987, Wakenshaw  M 11,952, Wilkinson T 22,960

Irregularity statement 
A member who is concerned that some irregularity may be occurring, or have occurred, in the conduct of the financial affairs of the union may take steps with a view to investigating
further, obtaining clarification and, if necessary, securing regularisation of that conduct.
The member may raise any such concern with such one or more of the following as it seems appropriate to raise it with: the officials of the union, the trustees of the property of the union,
the auditor or auditors of the union, the Certification Officer (who is an independent officer appointed by the Secretary of State) and the police.
Where a member believes that the financial affairs of the union have been or are being conducted in breach of the law or in breach of the rules of the union and contemplates bringing
civil proceedings against the union or responsible officials or trustees, he should consider obtaining independent legal advice.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of The Associated Society of Locomotive Engineers and Firemen (ASLEF) for the year ended 31 December 2020 which comprise the income and
expenditure account, Statement of Comprehensive Income, Balance Sheet, Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 “The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the union’s affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of its result for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.  We are independent of the union in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

• the Executive Committee’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate, or
• the Executive Committee has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the union’s ability to continue to

adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Matters in which we are required to report by exception
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Union and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the financial report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters to which the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• proper accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us, in accordance with the requirements; or
• the union has not maintained a satisfactory system of controls over its transactions in accordance with the requirements; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Other information
The Executive Committee is responsible for the other information comprising the information included in the introduction to the financial statements. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and except to the extent otherwise stasted in our report, we do not express any for of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information.  If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Executive Committee
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Executive Committee’s Responsibilities, the Executive Committee is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Executive Committee determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Executive Committee is responsible for assessing the union’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the union or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs(UK) will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Councils website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Associated Society of Locomotive Engineers and Firemen, as a body, in accordance with the provisions of the Trade Union and Labour Relations
(Consolidation) Act 1992. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Union’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the union as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.

Azets Audit Services Limited, Chartered Accountants, Statutory Auditor, Regis House, 45 King William Street, London EC4R 9AN.

14th April 2021



November 2021 l The ASLEF Journal 23

On Track

Have you been sacked, or are in trouble at work, and cannot get hold of
your branch secretary, local representative or District Organiser in an
emergency? Call our industrial relations department on 020 7324 2400
(9am to 5pm Monday to Thursday or 9am to 4pm on Friday) or leave a
message on the answer service, or email info@aslef.org.uk with a subject
heading of ‘For the attention of the
industrial relations dept’.

ASLEF’s legal services

Changed your address? Please let us know! Just fill in this form or go online

Name.....................................................................................................................................................

Address.................................................................................................................................................

.................................................................................................................................................................

Postcode ...................................................Telephone.....................................................................

Branch.........................................................................Membership No.........................................

Please return coupon to: ASLEF, 77 St John Street, Clerkenwell, London, EC1M 4NN

Solution to Prize Crossword 186
Across: 1 Labour 7 Power 8 Meringue 9 Cameo
10 Rust 12 Ease 13 Tiny 14 Onyx 15 Soon 17
Eggs 19 Fever 20 Antelope 21 Check 22
Hamlet Down: 1 Lemur 2 Bird’s-eye
view 3 Reggae 4 Specs 5 Swimming
pool 6 Groovy 11 Tax 13 Toe 14
Office 15 Scotch 16 Drake 18 Sleet

Congratulations to Ken Graham of
West Monkseaton, Whitley Bay, Tyne & Wear
who was last month’s winner. The winner of this
month’s Prize Crossword will receive Marks &
Spencer vouchers to the value of £25.

Name......................................................................

Address..................................................................

..................................................................................

...................................................................................

...................................................................................

...................................................................................

Postcode................................................................

If you successfully complete this month’s Prize Crossword please send the solution by post to the
Editor, ASLEF Journal, 77 St John Street, Clerkenwell, London, EC1M 4NN (or take a photo on your
mobile phone of the grid and send the image to journal@aslef.org.uk) by Friday 12 November

Prize Crossword Across
1 Centipede or 
spider (6,6) 
7 Dog which strays? 
8 Chief, principal 
10 Firearm 
11 Giant violin
13 Network of 
rabbit burrows 
15 Keyboard
operator 
17 Fashionable
racecourse
18 Speed restriction 
19 Border, rim 
21 Run away with 
a lover 
22 Military trial (5,7)

Down
1 Satirical portrait
2 Gummed letter
container 
3 Intelligent talking
birds 
4 House detention
during certain hours 
5 Dull persistent pain
6 Meadow 
9 Shabbily dressed
(4-2-4)
12 Dark green
cauliflower 
14 Not a paid
professional 
16 Indian hand 
drum (3-3)
18 Lecherous look 
20 Performing pair

l You can see more of Tom Williams’s
crosswords, word games and puzzles at
wordgames.co.uk

Prize crossword 187 by Tom Williams

OJ! I want OJ!

RIDGET Rowe, when she was
editor of Woman’s Own, TV
Times, and the Sunday

Mirror, and a television panelist on
Loose Women, would demand that
minions bring her ‘OJ!’ But she didn’t
want a glass of orange juice. She
wanted ideas and stories that were
new and exciting, not well past their
sell-by date.

It’s the same with words. Speeches
at the party conferences, across the
political spectrum, in September and
October were peppered with clichés –
words and phrases used so
frequently, and so unimaginatively,
that they have lost their power and,
arguably, their meaning. They fall
from the tongue but people rarely
listen to a speaker – or take note of a
speech – they consider lazy or glib.

‘Perfect storm’ became popular
after that film, released in 2000, based
on a 1997 book by Sebastian Junger
(although William Makepeace
Thackeray uses the phrase in Vanity
Fair: ‘the hat went round…in the
midst of a perfect storm of
sympathy’). It’s so overused that even
amateur meteorologists now wince.

‘Game changer’. Really? In a good
way? Or could it just ‘change the
narrative’ – that’s another one – for
the worse?

‘Pushing the envelope’, ‘stepping
up to the plate’, ‘drawing a line in the
sand’, and ‘that’s one of our red lines’
are now only used by politicians who
think they are walking in the shoes of
David Brent.

‘I’ve been on a journey’. Fair
enough if you’re a train driver – or
passenger – otherwise, isn’t everyone
on a fecking journey these days?

‘Resilience’. Who would not want
something to be resilient?

‘Support’. The new euphemism for
money. ‘Pony up, please!’

‘At the end of the day’. It’s probably
time to go to bed.

Keith Richmond

B
The future is freshly squeezed orange



Rail Wellbeing Live is a chance to get together online to 
focus on our health and wellbeing.

It’s a two-day virtual ‘pick and mix’ event where you can  
dip in and out when you like, picking sessions that are the 
most relevant and interesting to you. 

Get practical tips on things like work-life balance, eating  
well and coping with stress. And learn exercises to help  
with everyday aches and pains.

Celebrity speakers include British Olympic medallist 
Rebecca Adlington OBE, who will answer your questions 
on what she’s learned about maintaining a healthy work-
life balance. Plus, former Royal Marine Jason Fox will tell 
us what he’s learned about coping in challenging times. 
Bryony Gordon, author of Mad Girl, will be delivering a 
session on mental health called ‘No such thing as normal!’. 
You can also hear from Dr Rupy Aujla, who will be sharing 
hacks for eating well on the go. 

Rail Wellbeing Live 
17 & 18 November 2021 

Choose from 75 free sessions to 
help you live a happier, healthier life

www.railwellbeinglive.co.uk

Scan the QR code 
and register today 

Recognise an exceptional 
colleague by entering them 
for the Wellbeing Hero Award

*Please check there is a convenient class near your home before entering the prize draw.

•  Pack of ten British Military  
Fitness classes*

• Fitbit Luxe

• Lululemon Reversible Yoga Mat

•  20kg Spinlock Dumbbell Weight Set

•  One-year subscription to Men’s Health 
OR Women’s Health magazine

Registration is FREE. 
Sign up by 30 September 
to win top prizes

A Better,
Safer
Railway
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